ON CLASSICAL CHROMODYNAMICS OF EXTERNAL CHARGES AND FIELDS

By H. Arodź

Institute of Physics, Jagellonian University, Cracow*

(Received May 9, 1983)

Classical mechanics of colored particles in external, classical Yang-Mills fields is discussed from quantum-mechanical point of view. Theory of classical Yang-Mills fields in the presence of external sources is presented.

PACS numbers: 11.10.Np

CONTENTS

Introduction

PART I

Color charged particle in an external Nonabelian gauge field

- I.1. The equations of motion for classical particle with spin and color spin
- I.2. The constraint equations and the determination of the wave function $u_0(t)$
- I.3. Limitation of the concept of the classical colored particle
- I.4. Final remarks

PART II

Nonabelian gauge fields generated by external sources

- II.1. Rudiments of the theory of Nonabelian gauge fields in the presence of external sources
 - II.1.1. Energy of the system of Nonabelian gauge fields and external sources
 - II.1.2. Gauge invariant characteristics of the external color charges
- II.2. Examples of Nonabelian gauge fields generated by external sources
 - II.2.1. The Abelian Coulomb solution for the system of spatially separated external charges
 - II.2.2. The perturbative approach to Yang-Mills equations with weak external sources
 - II.2.3. The perturbative Nonabelian Coulomb solution
- II.3. Fields generated by gauge invariant external sources
- II.4. Final remarks

References

^{*} Address: Instytut Fizyki, Zakład Teorii Pola, Reymonta 4, 30-059 Kraków, Poland.

Introduction

During the last several years quantum chromodynamics (QCD) has become the most promising candidate for the theory of strong interactions. In favour of it one could cite, e.g. the fact that it puts the phenomenologically correct old quark model in a consistent dynamical context, or experimental confirmation of the perturbative calculations of cross sections for deep inelastic scattering.

Nevertheless, QCD is not fully understood yet. There are fundamental problems within it for which no satisfactory solutions are known, e.g., the problem of explaining the spectrum of hadrons and related problem of quark confinement. There are good reasons to believe that these and other difficult problems can be made easier after gaining a detailed knowledge about properties of the corresponding unquantized theory, i.e. about classical chromodynamics (CCD). This is the main motivation for the widespread studying of CCD.

That unquantized theory is obtained by replacing the quantum fields of QCD by classical ones. In this way we obtain an extremely complicated set of intercoupled Dirac and Yang-Mills equations. Even in the much simpler Abelian case (intercoupled Maxwell and Dirac equations) it is difficult to extract information from such a set of equations. Therefore, it is natural to simplify the problem further, namely to consider color charged matter in external Nonabelian gauge fields, and vice versa, Nonabelian gauge fields generated by external color currents. Thus, in this way we would like to imitate the traditional scheme of electrodynamics.

The main stream of investigations of CCD has always been devoted to pure Yang-Mills sector, i.e. the quark fields have been put to zero, for references see [1]¹. Actually, we are aware only of a single paper on CCD with quarks published before 1978: the paper by Mandula [2] on Yang-Mills fields generated by a fixed point-like quark source. The fact that very little was known about classical Yang-Mills fields generated by a fixed distribution of quarks was realized independently by several authors [3-6]. Since then the interest in the subject has been constantly growing, see e.g. [7-28]. Nevertheless, the problem is still far from being explored.

Much more extensively was investigated the complementary problem of motion of colored particles placed in an external Yang-Mills fields, see e.g. [29-46].

We would like to cover these two subjects, i.e. classical Yang-Mills fields generated by external sources and classical motion of color charged matter in external Yang-Mills field with the term classical chromodynamics of external charges and fields.

¹ The vast literature on monopoles and vortices deals with Higgs fields which are regarded as dynamical variables — they are not externally fixed. Coupling of the scalar Higgs fields to Yang-Mills fields is different from that of fermions because of spin of fermions and because of the fact that the color current of the Higgs fields contains the term $A^a_{\mu}|\varphi|^2$ mixing Yang-Mills field and the Higgs's. This term is absent in the color current of fermions. Moreover, it is well-known [1] that in most problems the Higgs's in the Prasad-Sommerfield limit can be reinterpreted as the zeroth component of Euclidean Yang-Mills field, i.e. the problem is then essentially the pure Yang-Mills problem. All these facts cause that the numerous results obtained for Yang-Mills theory in the presence of Higgs fields are not relevant for Yang-Mills fields in the presence of spin $\frac{1}{2}$ quarks.

This paper is a review of our work on classical chromodynamics of external charges and fields. The content of the paper is divided into two parts.

In the first part we consider color charged matter in the external SU(2) gauge field. Specifically, we investigate the particle-like classical limit of the Dirac equation with the external Yang-Mills field. We find that such a limit does not exist in general. When this limit exists, there is an interesting mixing between spin and color degrees of freedom of the particle.

In the second part we investigate classical Yang-Mills fields generated by external sources. We discuss the problem of gauge invariance of energy in the presence of an external current and we present certain topological characteristics of the external charge distribution. Next, we describe the exact Abelian Coulomb solution for a set of spatially separated color charges, we discuss a perturbative approach to solving Yang-Mills equations with weak external sources, and we construct within this perturbative approach a Nonabelian Coulomb solution for the external color charge characterized by Hopf index ± 1 . We also consider certain modification of CCD in which the Yang-Mills potentials are coupled to gauge invariant external sources.

Part I: Color Charged Particle in an External Nonabelian Gauge Field

I.1. The equations of motion for classical particle with spin and color spin

Classical mechanics of colored particles [29-46] is the very interesting example of classical mechanics with internal degrees of freedom, even though one should not expect to observe colored particles in any experiment, according to the color confinement hypothesis.

Here we would like to propose a set of classical equations of motion for a colored and spinning particle interacting with an external SU(2) Nonabelian gauge field. We find that because of mixing between color and spin, it is necessary to introduce a new classical dynamical variable $[J^{ab}]$, a, b = 1, 2, 3. The constraint relations between $[J^{ab}]$, the classical spin \vec{S} , and the classical color spin \vec{I} are also found. The full presentation of our results is published elsewhere [37].

The classical equations of motion for a spinless, colored particle were extracted by Wong [29] from the Heisenberg equations for the momentum and color spin operators derived from Dirac equation with external SU(2) gauge field. The replacement of the operators by c-number classical quantities in the Heisenberg equations led to the classical equations of motion. In the non-relativistic limit these equations are

$$m\ddot{\vec{x}} = gI^a \vec{E}^a + \frac{g}{c} \dot{\vec{x}} \times \vec{B}^a I^a, \tag{1}$$

$$\dot{I}^{a} = \frac{g}{\hbar} \, \varepsilon_{abc} \left(A_{0}^{b} - \vec{A}^{b} \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}}{c} \right) I^{c}, \tag{2}$$

where $\vec{I} = (I^a)$, a = 1, 2, 3 is the color spin vector of the particle, the dots denote differentiations with respect to time. The color electric and magnetic fields are defined as

$$E^{ai} = F^a_{0i}, \quad B^{ak} = -\frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{krl} F^a_{rl}, \tag{3}$$

where $F_{\mu\nu}^a$ is the SU(2) field strength tensor, see formula (3) in Ch. 1, §1 of Part II.

Our derivation also starts from the Heisenberg equations, however we make two essential improvements. First, we use the Foldy-Wouthuysen representation for the Dirac equation with SU(2) gauge external field. This allows us to avoid the well-known problem [47] with interpretation of the $\vec{\alpha} = \gamma^0 \vec{\gamma}$ matrices as the classical velocity (this problem is present in Ref. [29]). Second, we identify the classical quantities as the expectation values of operators, assuming the quantum state of a wave packet form. We avoid the ambiguous and formal procedure consisting of replacing quantum operators by c-number quantities used in Ref. [29]. This allows us to observe mixing between spin and color spin. Moreover, in our approach from the knowledge of classical quantities one can gain an information about quantum mechanical wave function of the particle, while in Ref. [29] the wave function is completely abandoned.

Our results were obtained with the approximate Hamiltonian H_2 in the Foldy-Wouthuysen representation. The obtained classical theory is a nonrelativistic one. Moreover, the equations (21), (23), (24) below for the internal degrees of freedom can not be rewritten in the relativistic form by merely introducing the proper time by $\gamma d/dt = d/d\tau$. The equations have truly nonrelativistic form.

The Dirac Hamiltonian in the Foldy-Wouthuysen representation calculated up to the order $(mc)^{-2}$ is [37]

$$H = mc^{2}\beta + \frac{1}{2m}\beta\left(\vec{p} - \frac{g}{c}\hat{\hat{A}}\right)^{2} + g\hat{A}_{0} + \frac{g\hbar}{2mc}\varepsilon_{iks}\hat{S}^{s}F_{ik}$$

$$-\frac{g\hbar}{4m^{2}c^{2}}\varepsilon_{iks}\hat{S}^{s}\left[\hat{E}^{i}\left(p^{k} - \frac{g}{c}\hat{A}^{k}\right) + \left(p^{k} - \frac{g}{c}\hat{A}^{k}\right)\hat{E}^{i}\right] - \frac{g\hbar^{2}}{8m^{2}c^{2}}D_{i}\hat{E}^{i}, \tag{4}$$

where $D_k \hat{E}^i$ is the covariant derivative of the color electric field, $\hat{A}_{\mu} = A_{\mu}^a \hat{T}^a$, $\hat{T}^a = \frac{\sigma^a}{2}$ are the SU(2) generators in the fundamental representation. $\beta = \gamma^0$ is taken here to be diagonal

$$\beta = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\sigma_0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and $\hat{S}^i = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^i & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma^i \end{pmatrix}$ is the spin operator.

From the Hamiltonian (4) we obtain the following Heisenberg equations of motion. We introduce the mechanical momenta,

$$\pi^r = p^r - \frac{g}{c} \hat{A}^r, \tag{5}$$

then.

$$\frac{dx^{i}}{dt} = \frac{1}{m} \beta \pi^{i} - \frac{g\hbar}{2m^{2}c^{2}} \varepsilon_{tis} \hat{S}^{s} \hat{E}^{t}, \tag{6}$$

$$\frac{d\pi^{r}}{dt} = -\frac{g}{2c} \left(\hat{F}_{ri} \frac{dx^{i}}{dt} + \frac{dx^{i}}{dt} \hat{F}_{ri} \right) + g\hat{F}_{0r} - \frac{g\hbar}{2mc} \varepsilon_{iks} \hat{S}^{s} Dr \hat{F}_{ik}$$

$$+\frac{g\hbar}{4mc^2}\beta\varepsilon_{iks}\hat{S}^s\left[D_r\hat{E}^i\frac{dx^k}{dt}+\frac{dx^k}{dt}D_r\hat{E}^i\right]+\frac{g\hbar^2}{8m^2c^2}D_r(D_i\hat{E}^i). \tag{7}$$

We consider also spin S^t and color spin T^a operators,

$$\frac{d\hat{S}^t}{dt} = -\frac{g}{mc}\hat{F}_{tk}\hat{S}^k + \frac{g}{4mc^2}\beta\hat{S}^p \left(\hat{E}^t \frac{dx^p}{dt} - \hat{E}^p \frac{dx^t}{dt} + \frac{dx^p}{dt}\hat{E}^t - \frac{dx^t}{dt}\hat{E}^p\right), \tag{8}$$

$$\frac{d\hat{T}^a}{dt} = \frac{g}{h} \; \varepsilon_{abc} \left[A^b_0 - \frac{1}{2c} \left(\frac{dx^i}{dt} \, A^{bi} + A^{bi} \, \frac{dx^i}{dt} \right) \right] \hat{T}^c + \frac{g}{2mc} \, \varepsilon_{abc} \varepsilon_{its} \hat{S}^s \hat{F}^b_{it} \hat{T}^c \right]$$

$$+\frac{g}{4mc^2}\varepsilon_{ips}\varepsilon_{bac}\left(E^{bi}\frac{dx^p}{dt}+\frac{dx^p}{dt}E^{bi}\right)\beta\hat{S}^s\hat{T}^c+\frac{g\hbar}{8m^2c^2}\varepsilon_{bac}(D_i\hat{E}^i)^b\hat{T}^c. \tag{9}$$

Now let us turn to the expectation values. In this Section we assume the following "particle-like" form of the Dirac bispinor ψ in the Schrödinger picture in the positive energy sector [47]

$$\psi(\vec{x},t) = \begin{pmatrix} u^{\alpha\eta}(\vec{x},t)\varphi(\vec{x}-\vec{x}(t))\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{10}$$

where $\alpha = 1, 2$ refers to spin, $\eta = 1, 2$ refers to color. Here $\vec{x}(t)$ is the trajectory of the corresponding classical particle, $\varphi(\vec{x} - \vec{x}(t))$ is the c-number valued wave packet localized at $\vec{x}(t)$, with the average momentum

$$\langle \varphi | \vec{p} | \varphi \rangle = m \vec{x}(t).$$
 (11)

We neglect the quantum mechanical spreading out of the wave packet. We find it convenient to assume that for \vec{x} close to $\vec{x}(t)$

$$u(\vec{x},t) = \left(1 + \frac{ig}{\hbar c} \hat{A}^i(\vec{x}(t),t) \Delta x^i - \frac{ig}{2\hbar c} \partial_i \hat{A}^k(\vec{x}(t),t) \Delta x^i \Delta x^k + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{ig}{\hbar c}\right)^2 \hat{A}^k(\vec{x}(t),t) \hat{A}^i(\vec{x}(t),t) \Delta x^i \Delta x^k\right) u_0(t),$$
(12)

where $\Delta x^i = x^i - x^i(t)$. Furthermore, while calculating the expectation values we assume that due to the localizability

$$\langle \varphi | \Delta x^{i} | \varphi \rangle = \langle \varphi | \Delta x^{i} \Delta x^{k} \Delta x^{s} | \varphi \rangle = 0 \tag{13}$$

(in fact, the spherical symmetry of $\varphi(\vec{x} - \vec{x}(t))$ with $\vec{x}(t)$ as the center will do this), and that

$$\langle \varphi | \Delta x^i \Delta x^k | \varphi \rangle = \langle \varphi | \Delta x^i \Delta x^k \Delta x^s \Delta x^p | \varphi \rangle = 0. \tag{14}$$

Then we have the following formulae:

$$\langle \psi | \pi_{\rm S}^{\rm r} | \psi \rangle = m \dot{x}^{\rm r}(t), \quad \langle \psi | \pi_{\rm S}^{\rm r} \pi_{\rm S}^{\rm t} | \psi \rangle = m^2 \dot{x}^{\rm r} \dot{x}^{\rm t},$$
 (15)

$$I^{a}(t) \stackrel{\mathrm{df}}{=} \langle \psi | \hat{T}_{S}^{a} | \psi \rangle = u_{0}^{+}(t) \hat{T}_{S}^{a} u_{0}(t), \tag{16}$$

$$S^{b}(t) \stackrel{\mathrm{df}}{=} \langle \psi | \hat{S}_{S}^{b} | \psi \rangle = u_{0}^{+}(t) \hat{S}_{S}^{b} u_{0}(t), \tag{17}$$

$$\frac{1}{2} \langle \psi | \left[\hat{T}_{S}^{a}, \pi_{S}^{r} \right]_{+} | \psi \rangle = m I^{a} \dot{x}^{r}(t), \tag{18}$$

$$\frac{1}{2} \langle \psi | \hat{S}_{S}^{b} [\hat{T}_{S}^{a}, \pi_{S}^{r}]_{+} | \psi \rangle = m u_{0}^{+}(t) \hat{S}_{S}^{b} \hat{T}_{S}^{a} u_{0}(t) \dot{x}^{r}, \tag{19}$$

where the subscript S denotes the Schrödinger picture operators, $|\psi\rangle$ is the Schrödinger wave function (10).

Let us now calculate

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle \psi | \pi_{S}^{r} | \psi \rangle = {}_{H} \langle \psi | \frac{d\pi^{r}}{dt} | \psi \rangle_{H}$$

= $\langle \psi |$ (the r.h.s. of (7) taken to the Schrödinger picture) $|\psi\rangle$

$$= -\frac{g}{c}\dot{x}^{i}F_{ri}^{a}(\vec{x}(t),t)I^{a}(t) + gF_{0r}^{a}(\vec{x}(t),t)I^{a},$$

where in the last step we have used (15) and the definition (16) of the classical color spin vector \vec{l} . Moreover, because we neglect the quantum mechanical spreading out of the wave packet, which gives the contribution of the order h to $d|\psi\rangle/dt$ we neglect all other terms of the same or higher order in h for consistency. Thus, we have obtained the following classical equation for the trajectory

$$m\ddot{x}^{r}(t) = -\frac{g}{c}\dot{x}^{i}F^{a}_{ri}I^{a} + gF^{a}_{0r}I^{a}.$$
 (20)

Similarly, for the classical color spin vector we obtain

$$\frac{dI^{a}}{dt} = \frac{g}{\hbar} \, \varepsilon_{abc} \left(A^{b}_{0} - \frac{\dot{x}^{i}}{c} A^{bi} \right)
+ \frac{g}{2mc} \, \varepsilon_{itb} \varepsilon_{cad} \left[-F^{c}_{it} + \frac{1}{2c} \left(E^{ci} \dot{x}^{t} - E^{ct} \dot{x}^{i} \right) \right] J^{db}(t), \tag{21}$$

where we have to introduce the new classical quantity

$$J^{cs}(t) \stackrel{\mathrm{df}}{=} \langle \psi | \hat{T}_{\mathsf{S}}^{c} \hat{S}_{\mathsf{S}}^{s} | \psi \rangle = u_{\mathsf{0}}^{+}(t) \hat{T}_{\mathsf{S}}^{c} \hat{S}_{\mathsf{S}}^{s} u_{\mathsf{0}}(t). \tag{22}$$

For the classical spin vector

$$\frac{dS^{t}}{dt} = \frac{g}{mc} \left[-F^{a}_{tp} + \frac{1}{2c} (E^{at} \dot{x}^{p} - E^{ap} \dot{x}^{t}) \right] J^{ap}(t). \tag{23}$$

In order to have a closed set of equations we have to add the equation for $J^{ap}(t)$.

In the case where spin and color decouple, $u_0^{an}(t) = \varphi^a(t)\chi^n(t)$, we have $J^{ap}(t) = I^a(t)S^p(t)$. However, in the general case $J^{ap}(t)$ is an independent quantity, see next Section. The equation for $J^{ap}(t)$ follows from

$$\frac{d\hat{J}^{ap}}{dt} = \hat{T}^a \frac{d\hat{S}^b}{dt} + \frac{d\hat{T}^a}{dt} \hat{S}^b,$$

namely

$$\frac{dJ^{ab}}{dt} = \frac{g}{\hbar} \varepsilon_{acd} \left(A_0^c - \frac{\dot{x}^i}{c} A^{ci} \right) J^{db}
+ \frac{g}{8mc} \varepsilon_{ipb} \varepsilon_{cad} \left[-F_{ip}^c + \frac{1}{2c} (\dot{x}^p E^{ci} - \dot{x}^i E^{cp}) \right] I^d
+ \frac{g}{4mc} \left[-F_{bp}^a + \frac{1}{2c} (E^{ab} \dot{x}^p - E^{ap} \dot{x}^b) \right] S^p.$$
(24)

The equations (20), (21), (23), and (24) are the classical equations of motion for the particle with spin and with color spin. The equation (20) coincides with the Wong's equation (1), others do not. Observe that from these equations it does not follow that \vec{S}^2 and \vec{I}^2 in general are constants of motion. They can under special circumstances become constants of motion, e.g. when $J^{ab} = I^a S^b$.

1.2. The constraint equations and the determination of the wave function $u_0(t)$

The equations (20), (21), (23), (24) have to be completed with constraint equations. The reason is that the fifteen numbers I^a , S^b , J^{ab} are expectation values in the single state $u_0(t)$. Therefore, these expectation values depend on 6 independent, real numbers forming $u_0(t)$ (because u_0 is normalized to 1 and because the overall phase factor of u_0 does not change the expectation values). Thus, the constraints are necessary if the classical mechanics based on the equations (20), (21), (23), (24) is to be related to the quantum mechanical Dirac particle. We find these constraint equations in this Section. We also shall show how to calculate $u_0(t)$ from known $I^a(t)$, $S^b(t)$, $J^{ab}(t)$, and we shall find the time evolution equation for $u_0(t)$, [37].

First, let us show that knowledge of the classical quantities \vec{I} , \vec{S} , J^{ab} determines the wave function $u_0(t)$ up to an arbitrary time dependent phase factor. This fact we shall regard as proof that the above set of classical dynamical variables describing the internal motion of the particle is complete, in the sense that any other classical, internal dynamical variable, i.e., the expectation value of an operator in the state u_0 , is a function of \vec{I} , \vec{S} , $[J^{ab}]$.

To this end we shall regard the spinor $[u_0^{\alpha\eta}]$ as 2×2 matrix \hat{u}_0 . Then, the normalization condition $u_0^{*\alpha\eta}u_0^{\alpha\eta}=1$ takes the form

$$\operatorname{Tr} \, \hat{u}_0^+ \hat{u}_0 = 1. \tag{25}$$

Furthermore,

$$I^{a} \equiv \langle u_{0} | \hat{T}^{a} | u_{0} \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\hat{u}_{0}^{*} \sigma^{a} \hat{u}_{0}^{T} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\hat{u}_{0} \sigma^{aT} u_{0}^{+} \right), \tag{26}$$

$$S^{t} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} (\hat{u}_{0}^{+} \sigma^{t} \hat{u}_{0}), \tag{27}$$

$$J^{ab} = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr} (\hat{u}_0^+ \sigma^b \hat{u}_0 \sigma^{aT}), \tag{28}$$

where the star denotes the complex conjugation, and T denotes the transposition of the matrix. It is clear that we cannot determine the overall phase factor of u_0 .

From (25)-(27) it follows that

$$\hat{u}_0 \hat{u}_0^+ = \frac{1}{2} \sigma^0 + \vec{S} \vec{\sigma}, \tag{29}$$

$$\hat{u}_0^+ \hat{u}_0 = \frac{1}{2} \sigma^0 + \vec{I} \vec{\sigma}^{\mathrm{T}}. \tag{30}$$

Equations (29), (30) imply that

$$|\det \hat{u}_0|^2 = \frac{1}{4} - \vec{I}^2 = \frac{1}{4} - \vec{S}^2.$$
 (31)

Thus, we see that for SU(2)-colored particle

$$\vec{I}^2 = \vec{S}^2 \leqslant \frac{1}{4}. \tag{32}$$

It is easy to see that this fact is consistent with the equations (21), (23) only if

$$\varepsilon_{bac}I^{a}J^{cs} = \varepsilon_{skr}S^{k}J^{br}. \tag{33}$$

Utilising (26)-(30) it is easy to prove that the condition (33) is satisfied. Relations (32), (33) are examples of the constraint equations.

From (31) it follows that \hat{u}_0 is a singular matrix only when $\vec{S}^2 = \vec{I}^2 = 1/4$. It is easy to prove that det $\hat{u}_0 = 0$ is equivalent to

$$u_0^{\alpha\eta} = \xi^{\alpha}\chi^{\eta},\tag{34}$$

i.e., in this case the spin and color spin decouple. In this degenerate case knowledge of \vec{I} and \vec{S} , together with the normalization conditions

$$\xi^+\xi=1,\quad \chi^+\chi=1,$$

determines ξ , χ up to the arbitrary time-dependent phase factor. For example, when $I^3 \neq -1/2$,

$$\chi = \exp\left[i\alpha(t)\right] \left(\frac{1}{2} + I^3\right)^{-1/2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} + I^3 \\ I^1 + iI^2 \end{pmatrix},\tag{35}$$

and if $I^3 = -1/2$

$$\chi = \exp \left[i\alpha(t)\right] \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Analogous formulae hold for ξ .

Let us remark here that the above relation between $\vec{I}(\vec{S})$ and the 2-spinor $\chi(\xi)$ can be refined by utilising the coherent states for the SU(2) group, [39].

In the degenerate case (34) we have $J^{ab} = I^a S^b$. The constraint (33) becomes trivialized to 0 = 0. However, $[J^{ab}]$ does not cease to be an independent dynamical variable for the particle, as we shall argue below. This means that the relation det $\hat{u}_0 = 0$ is not conserved in time.

Now, let us consider the general case, which also includes det $\hat{u}_0 = 0$. In order to determine \hat{u}_0 we recall that any 2×2 matrix can be written in the form

$$\hat{u}_0 = HV, \tag{36}$$

where

$$H = H^{+} = \sqrt{\hat{u}_{0}\hat{u}_{0}^{+}} \tag{37}$$

is a positive definite, hermitean matrix, and V is a unitary matrix determined from (36). If \hat{u}_0 is not singular, the matrix V is determined uniquely, namely

$$V = H^{-1}\hat{u}_0. {(38)}$$

From (29), (37) we obtain

$$H = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\lambda}} (\lambda \sigma^0 + \vec{S}\vec{\sigma}), \tag{39}$$

where

$$\lambda = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1 - 4\vec{S}^2},\tag{40}$$

and σ^0 is the 2×2, unit matrix. Furthermore, because

$$ec{\sigma}^{\mathrm{T}} = \widetilde{\dot{\sigma}} = egin{pmatrix} \sigma^1 \ -\sigma^2 \ \sigma^3 \end{pmatrix},$$

we obtain from (29), (30), (39) that

$$V^{+}\vec{S}\vec{\sigma}V = \tilde{\vec{I}}\vec{\sigma},\tag{41}$$

i.e., V represents a rotation which rotates \vec{S} into $\hat{\vec{I}}$, where

$$\tilde{\vec{I}} = \begin{pmatrix} I^1 \\ -I^2 \\ I^3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

For instance, when $\vec{S} \neq -\tilde{\vec{I}}$ we may take

$$V_0 = i\vec{\sigma} \frac{\vec{S} + \tilde{\vec{I}}}{|\vec{S} + \tilde{\vec{I}}|}.$$
 (42)

Obviously, (41) does not determine V completely. Namely, we can take

$$V = V_0 C$$

where C is any unitary matrix commuting with $\vec{I}\vec{\sigma}$. Any such C has the form

$$C = \exp\left[i\beta(t)\right] \exp\left[i\frac{\gamma(t)}{2}\frac{\vec{I}\vec{\sigma}}{|\vec{I}|}\right]. \tag{43}$$

Thus, we see that in the general case \hat{u}_0 is not determined by the knowledge of $\vec{I}(t)$ and $\vec{S}(t)$ —apart from the unessential phase factor $\exp[i\beta(t)]$ we do not know the function $\gamma(t)$.

Therefore $[J^{ab}]$ is the new dynamical variable for the classical particle, independent of (I^a) , (S^b) . Observe that if at certain instant t_0

$$u_0^{\alpha\eta}(t_0) = \xi^{\alpha}(t_0)\chi^{\eta}(t_0), \tag{44}$$

then

$$J^{ab}(t_0) = I^a(t_0)S^b(t_0). (45)$$

However, it is easy to check from (36), (38), (40) that the quantity $Q^{ab} = J^{ab} - I^a S^b$ is not a constant of motion. Therefore, in general (41), (42) do not hold for $t \neq t_0$, and therefore J^{ab} does not cease to be the independent dynamical variable.

From (39), (42), (43) we obtain

$$u_{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\lambda}} \frac{1}{|\vec{S} + \tilde{I}|} \exp\left[i\beta(t)\right] \left(\cos\frac{\gamma}{2} + i\frac{\lambda}{I}\sin\frac{\gamma}{2}\right)$$
$$\left[\frac{1}{2}|\vec{S} + \tilde{I}|^{2} + (\vec{S} \times \tilde{I})\vec{\sigma} + \lambda(\vec{S}\vec{\sigma} + \tilde{I}\vec{\sigma})\right]. \tag{46}$$

In the degenerate case $\lambda = I = S = 1/2$, and therefore in this case all dependence on $\gamma(t)$ takes the form of the undeterminable phase factor $\exp[i\gamma(t)/2]$. It can be shown that in this case (46) can be written in the form (34) with ξ , η given by (35).

In the general case however, the function $\gamma(t)$ does not appear in the form of a phase factor, so it has to be determined. This determination is possible if in addition to \vec{I} , \vec{S} we also know the matrix $[J^{ab}]$. From (46) we obtain

$$J^{ab} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{I^a S^b}{I^2} + \sin \gamma A^{ab} + \cos \gamma B^{ab}, \tag{47}$$

where

$$A^{ab} = \frac{\lambda - 2\vec{S}^2}{4\lambda |\vec{I}|} \left[\varepsilon_{ad\bar{b}} I^d - 2\varepsilon_{adc} \frac{I^d S^{\bar{c}} (S^b + I^{\bar{b}})}{|\vec{S} + \tilde{I}|^2} \right], \tag{48}$$

$$B^{ab} = -\frac{I^a S^b}{4\vec{I}^2} + \frac{\lambda - 2\vec{S}^2}{2\lambda |\vec{S} + \vec{\tilde{I}}|^2} (S^{\bar{a}} + I^a) (S^b + I^{\bar{b}}) + \frac{1}{4\lambda} [2S^b I^a - (\lambda - 2\vec{S}^2) \delta^{ab}].$$

In these formulae the barred indices \bar{a} , \bar{b} , etc., denote the change of sign of the vector or the tensor when the value of the index equals to two, e.g.,

$$[\delta^{\bar{a}b}] = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The presence of the barred indices is due to the fact that $\sigma^{aT} = \sigma^{\bar{a}}$. From (47) we can determine γ if we know \vec{I} , \vec{S} , $[J^{ab}]$.

Thus, we have proved that \vec{l} , \vec{S} , $[J^{ab}]$ form the complete set of classical dynamical variables for the internal motion of the particle. Now, we shall find the constraints. For 15 real number valued quantities (I^a) , (S^b) , $[J^{ab}]$ we have to find 9 independent equations, in order to be left with 6 independent quantities.

In order to find the constraints, we consider the matrix M^{ν}_{μ} , defined by

$$M^{\nu}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} (\hat{u}_0^{\dagger} \sigma^{\nu} \hat{u}_0 \sigma^{\mu}).$$
 (49)

Comparing (49) with definitions of I^a , S^b , J^{ab} , we see that

$$M_0^0 = \frac{1}{2},$$
 $M_0^b = S^b, \quad M_a^0 = I^{\bar{a}}, \quad M_a^b = 2J^{\bar{a}b}.$ (50)

The matrix M^{ν}_{μ} obeys the relation

$$M^{\nu}_{\ \mu}g_{\nu\rho}M^{\rho}_{\ \sigma} = |\det \hat{u}_0|^2 g_{\mu\sigma},$$
 (51)

where $(g_{\mu\nu}) = (1, -1, -1, -1)$ is the Minkowski space-time metrics. In the degenerate case this relation can be easily verified by a direct calculation. In the nondegenerate case, det $\hat{u}_0 \neq 0$, this identity comes simply from the fact that $L^{\nu}_{\mu} = M^{\nu}_{\mu}/|\det \hat{u}_0|$ is a Lorentz transformation, because the matrix $\hat{u}_0/(\det u_0)^{1/2}$ is an element of the SL(2, C) group. Here we use the well-known relation between SL(2, C) and the proper, orthochronous Lorentz group, [48]. The Lorentz transformations obey the relation

$$L^{\nu}_{\mu}g_{\nu\rho}L^{\rho}_{\sigma}=g_{\mu\sigma}.$$

This relation leads to (51).

Let us recall that $|\det \hat{u}_0|$ is determined by \vec{I} or \vec{S} via (31). From (50), (51) we obtain that

$$\frac{1}{4} - \vec{S}^2 = |\det \hat{u}_0|^2, \tag{52}$$

$$\frac{1}{4}I^a - J^{ab}S^b = 0, (53)$$

$$4J^{ab}J^{db} - I^aI^d = |\det \hat{u}_0|^2 \delta^{ad}. \tag{54}$$

Another set of relations is obtained from the fact that if L^{ν}_{μ} is a Lorentz transformation, then $(L^{T})^{\nu}_{\mu}$ is a Lorentz transformation too. The difference between L and L^{T} is equivalent to the interchange of \vec{S} and \vec{I} , and to the replacement of $J^{\bar{a}b}$ by $J^{b\bar{a}}$. Thus, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{4} - \vec{I}^2 = |\det \hat{u}_0|^2, \tag{55}$$

$$\frac{1}{4}S^b - J^{ab}I^a = 0, (56)$$

$$4J^{db}J^{dc} - S^b S^c = |\det \hat{u}_0|^2 \delta^{bc}.$$
 (57)

In the degenerate case these relations can be easily verified by a direct calculation.

The equations (52), (55) are equivalent to (31). The equations (53), (54) are the nine constraint equations. The equations (56), (57) are equivalent to (53), (54) because (53), (54) together form the sufficient condition for L^{ν}_{μ} to be the Lorentz transformation. The previously found relations (32), (33) also follow from (52)-(54).

The next problem to be investigated is the question whether the classical equations of motion (21), (23), (24) respect the constraints, i.e., whether the above relations are conserved in time if \vec{I} , \vec{S} , $[J^{ab}]$ evolve in time according to the equations of motion.

It seems that the most illuminating way to find the answer to this question is to observe that those three classical equations of motion can be derived from a single equation for $\hat{u}_0(t)$. Then, the solutions to (21), (23), (24) can be regarded as the expectation values (26)–(28) in the state $\hat{u}_0(t)$ for all t—this would guarantee that together they form the matrix (49) for all t, i.e., that the constraints are conserved.

Such an equation for \hat{u}_0 can be derived in the following manner. From the Schrödinger equation

$$i\hbar \, \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \, \psi = H_2 \psi$$

we obtain for the wave packet (10) that

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial \tilde{\varphi}}{\partial t} u_0 + i\hbar \tilde{\varphi} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} u_0 = H_2 \tilde{\varphi} u_0, \tag{58}$$

$$\psi(\vec{x},t) = u(\vec{x},t) \varphi(\vec{x} - \vec{x}(t)) \equiv \tilde{\varphi}(\vec{x},t) u_0(t).$$

Here we regard u_0 as the 2-spinor, not as a 2×2 matrix.

Now we assume that

$$u_0^+ \frac{\partial}{\partial t} u_0 = 0. ag{59}$$

In fact, this assumption does not restrict the generality of our arguments, because if a certain \bar{u}_0 does not obey (59), then

$$u_0(t) = \exp\left[-\int_0^t \left(\bar{u}_0^+ \frac{\partial}{\partial t'} \bar{u}_0\right) dt'\right] \bar{u}_0(t)$$

obeys it. Because $\bar{u}_0^+\bar{u}_0 = 1$, the above exponential is a time-dependent phase factor (the integrand is imaginary). Therefore, (59) is merely a restriction on the overall phase of u_0 , which has no effect on \vec{I} , \vec{S} , $[J^{ab}]$, as is clear from (16), (17), (22).

From (58), (59) we obtain that

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} = (u^{+}H_{2}u)\varphi - \frac{g}{c}A_{k}^{a}\dot{x}^{k}I^{a}\varphi, \tag{60}$$

and therefore

$$ih \frac{\partial}{\partial t} u_0 = \overline{H}_2 u_0 - (u_0^+ \overline{H}_2 u_0) u_0, \tag{61}$$

where

$$\overline{H}_2 = \int d^3 \vec{x} \varphi^* \left(1 - \frac{ig}{\hbar c} \hat{A}^i \Delta x^i \right) H_2 \left(1 + \frac{ig}{\hbar c} \hat{A}^k \Delta x^k \right) \varphi - \frac{g}{c} \hat{A}^i \dot{x}^i + \frac{g}{c} A^{ai} I^a x^i$$
 (62)

is the "effective" Hamiltonian for spin and color degrees of freedom. It is easy to check that \overline{H}_2 has the form (we neglect the terms of order h^2 because we neglect the spreading out of the wave packet which gives the contribution of order h to $\partial \varphi/\partial t$):

$$\overline{H}_{2} = \frac{1}{2} m \dot{\vec{x}}^{2} - \frac{g}{c} \hat{A}^{i} \dot{\vec{x}}^{i} + g \hat{A}_{0} + \frac{g}{c} A_{i}^{a} l^{a} \dot{\vec{x}}^{i} + \frac{gh}{2mc} \varepsilon_{iks} \hat{S}^{s} \hat{F}_{ik} - \frac{gh}{2mc^{2}} \varepsilon_{iks} \dot{\vec{x}}^{k} \hat{S}^{s} \hat{E}^{i},$$
(63)

where we have used (15). Of course, \overline{H}_2 is a hermitian matrix.

Thus, the time evolution of u_0 is governed by the nonlinear equation (61). In fact, the nonlinear term in (61) is superficial. The simple change of phase of u_0 , performed by passing to

$$w(t) = \exp\left[\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{0}^{t} (u_0^{+} \overline{H}_2 u_0) dt'\right] u_0(t)$$
 (64)

removes this term. Namely, w(t) obeys the linear equation

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} = \overline{H}_2 w. \tag{65}$$

The nonlinear term in (61) is necessary in order to ensure (59). Of course, w(t) does not obey (59) in general.

From (64), (65) we see that

$$\frac{d}{dt}(u_0^+ \hat{P}u_0) = \frac{i}{\hbar} u_0^+ [\overline{H}_2, \hat{P}]u_0, \tag{66}$$

where \hat{P} denotes \hat{T}^a , \hat{S}^b or \hat{J}^{ab} . It is easy to check that this equation leads to the equations (21), (23), (24) for I^a , S^b , J^{ab} .

Now we can prove that the constraints are conserved in time. The proof is based on the plausible assumption that the equations (21), (23), (24) for the fixed trajectory $\vec{x}(t)$ have a unique solution determined by the initial data $\vec{I}(t_0)$, $\vec{S}(t_0)$, $[J^{ab}(t_0)]$. If the initial data are specified in such a way that the constraints are satisfied, then there exists $u_0(t_0)$ such that (26-28) are true for $t = t_0$. Next, we solve (61) for $u_0(t)$ with the $u_0(t_0)$ as the initial data. Applying (26-28) again with the calculated $u_0(t)$ we obtain the solution $\vec{I}(t)$, $\vec{S}(t)$, $[J^{ab}(t)]$ of the equations (21), (23), (24) with the chosen initial values. As for this solution (26-28) are true for all t, the constraints are conserved in time.

Finally, let us state once more the most interesting result of this Section: the internal degrees of freedom for the classical particle with spin and SU(2) color spin are described by a 4×4 matrix $[M^{\nu}_{\mu}]$, which is closely related to an element of the SO(3,1) group, due to the constraint equations.

Finally let us note that we do in fact not take the classical limit for spin and color degrees of freedom. We just consider the expectation values of quantum spin and color operators for spin $\frac{1}{2}$ and color $\frac{1}{2}$ particle.

I.3. Limitation of the concept of the classical colored particle

The derivation of the classical equations presented above relies on the "particle-like" Ansatz (10) and the assumptions (13) and (14). If they are true, the classical equations form a classical approximation to the Dirac equation with the external SU(2) gauge field. If they are not true, the classical equations can still be considered as a selfconsistent basis for a classical mechanics of a spinning, colored particle. However, in this case the classical mechanics ceases to be a classical approximation to the quantum mechanics based on the Dirac equation.

In fact we would like to present a simple example which suggests that the relevance of the classical mechanics for the classical limit of quantum mechanics of a particle in the external Yang-Mills field seems to be restricted, [38]. The point is that we find examples in which the wave equation, here for simplicity we consider the Schrödinger equation, does not allow for a satisfactory notion of a classical trajectory of a single point-like particle

even in the limit $\hbar \to 0$. However, in the particular circumstances where such a trajectory can be defined, Eqs. (1) and (2) can be derived, e.g. by the semiclassical method as we will show in this Section. In the other case, the Eqs. (1) and (2) can still be considered as a self-consistent basis for the very interesting example of classical mechanics with internal degrees of freedom, however without correspondence to quantum mechanics of a point-like particle in the external Yang-Mills field.

We consider the Schrödinger equation for a spinless particle with the Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{1}{2m} \left(\vec{p} - \frac{g}{c} \vec{A}^a \hat{T}^a \right)^2 + g A_0^a \hat{T}^a$$
 (67)

where $\hat{T}^a = \frac{\sigma^a}{2}$ are the generators of the SU(2) gauge group. We shall consider the simple case of a gauge potential of the "Abelian" type

$$A_{u}^{a}(\vec{x},t) = h^{a}A_{u}(\vec{x},t), \tag{68}$$

where $\vec{h} = (h^a)$ is a constant vector in the color space, and $\vec{h}^2 = 1$.

Our argument for the lack of a satisfactory notion of the classical trajectory is based on the investigation of time evolution of a wave function which at the moment $t = t_0$ has the form of the localized at $\vec{x} = \vec{x}_0$ wave packet

$$\psi^{\eta}(\vec{x}, t_0) = u_0^{\eta}(t)\varphi(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_0), \tag{69}$$

where the index η describes color degrees of freedom. We assume also that the wave packet is localized in the momentum space, the average momentum being $\vec{mv_0}$.

Let \vec{e}_+ be the normalized eigenvectors of the Hermitean matrix $h^a \hat{T}^a$,

$$(h^a \hat{T}^a) \vec{e}_+ = \pm \frac{1}{2} \vec{e}_+. \tag{70}$$

The Schrödinger equation

$$i\hbar \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\partial t} \vec{\psi} = H \vec{\psi}$$

can be projected one \vec{e}_{\pm} , yielding

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \varphi_{\pm} = H_{\pm} \varphi_{\pm}, \tag{71}$$

where

$$\varphi_{+}(\vec{x},t) = \vec{e}_{+}\vec{\psi}(\vec{x},t), \tag{72}$$

$$\vec{\psi}(\vec{x},t) = \vec{e}_+ \varphi_+(\vec{x},t) + \vec{e}_- \varphi_-(\vec{x},t), \tag{73}$$

and

$$H_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2m} \left(\vec{p} \mp \frac{g}{2c} \vec{A} \right)^2 \pm \frac{g}{2} A_0. \tag{74}$$

From Eqs. (71)-(74) we see that any time dependent wave function can be represented as the sum of two wave functions, each evolving in time independently of the other. The equations (71) can be regarded as the Schrödinger equations for two scalar (i.e., colorless) particles with the opposite electric charges $\pm g/2$, placed in the external electromagnetic field A_{μ} . Applying these observations to the initial wave packet (69) we obtain that

$$\varphi_{\pm}(\vec{x},t_0)=c_{\pm}\varphi(\vec{x}-\vec{x}_0),$$

where

$$\vec{u}_0(t_0) = c_+ \vec{e}_+ + c_- \vec{e}_-$$

evolve as the independent wave packets. Hence, if the usual conditions for the classical limit of quantum mechanics are satisfied, we can approximately write that

$$\varphi_{\pm}(\vec{x},t) = c_{\pm} \exp\left\{\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{t_0}^{t} dt' \left[\pm \frac{g}{2} \left(-A_0 + \frac{\vec{x}_{\pm} \vec{A}}{c}\right) + \frac{m}{2} \vec{x}_{\pm}^2\right]\right\} \varphi(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{\pm}(t)),$$

$$(75)$$

where $\vec{x}_{+}(t)$ ($\vec{x}_{-}(t)$) is the classical trajectory of the particle with the electric charge +g/2 (-g/2), placed in the gauge field A_{μ} with the initial data $\vec{x}(t_{0}) = \vec{x}_{0}$, $\dot{\vec{x}}(t_{0}) = \vec{v}_{0}$. The external field A_{μ} is taken at the point $\vec{x} = \vec{x}_{\pm}(t)$, respectively.

The form (75) of the wave function can easily be justified within the framework of the Feynman path integrals [49]. In particular, the phase factor in Eq. (75) is just exp $(i/\hbar S[\vec{x}_{\pm}])$ where $S[x_{\pm}]$ is the classical action for the classical trajectory $\vec{x}_{\pm}(t)$ — it is the common overall factor in any semiclassical approximation.

In general the trajectories $\vec{x}_+(t)$, $\vec{x}_-(t)$ are of course different, although the initial positions and velocities are identical. This means that the time dependent wave function $\vec{\psi}(\vec{x},t)$ does not in general have the form of a single wave packet. The initial wave packet (69) has dissociated in two separate wave packets. Observe that the difference between $\vec{x}_+(t)$ and $\vec{x}_-(t)$ does not vanish even in the limit $h \to 0$ because $\vec{x}_\pm(t)$ obey different classical Newton equations which do not contain h. In this sense, the dissociation of the wave packets in the Nonabelian gauge field is a macroscopic phenomenon.

In the Abelian case one could also have a dissociation of the initial wave packet, e.g., in experiments of the Stern-Gerlach type. However, in this case the separation is due to the coupling of spin to the external field. Because spin couplings are proportional to h, the separation between wave packets vanishes in the limit $h \to 0$ — therefore in the Abelian case the satisfactory notion of classical trajectory for a single classical particle in the external field can be introduced in that limit.

When

$$\vec{x}_{+}(t) \approx \vec{x}_{-}(t) \equiv \vec{x}(t), \tag{76}$$

what implies also that $\dot{\vec{x}}_{+}(t) \approx \dot{\vec{x}}_{-}(t)$, we can write that

$$\vec{\psi}(\vec{x},t) = \exp\left(\frac{im}{2\hbar} \int_{t_0}^t dt' \dot{\vec{x}}^2\right) \varphi(\vec{x} - \vec{x}(t)) u_0(t), \tag{77}$$

where

$$u_0(t) = c_+ \exp\left[\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{t_0}^t dt' \left(-\frac{g}{2} A_0 + \frac{g}{2c} \dot{\vec{x}} \vec{A}\right)\right] \vec{e}_+$$

$$+ c_- \exp\left[\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{t_0}^t dt' \left(\frac{g}{2} A_0 - \frac{g}{2c} \dot{\vec{x}} \vec{A}\right)\right] \vec{e}_-. \tag{78}$$

In this case it is easy to show that

$$I^{a} \stackrel{\mathrm{df}}{=} \langle \psi | \hat{T}^{a} | \psi \rangle \tag{79}$$

obeys the Wong's equation (2) using the formula

$$I^{a}(t) = \frac{1}{2} (|c_{+}|^{2} - |c_{-}|^{2}) h^{a} + 2 \operatorname{Re} \left\{ m^{a} c_{+}^{*} c_{-} \exp \left[\frac{i}{\hbar} g \int_{-c}^{t} \left(A_{0} - \frac{\vec{x}}{c} \vec{A} \right) dt' \right] \right\}, \quad (80)$$

where $\vec{m} \stackrel{\text{df}}{=} \vec{e}_{+}^{\dagger} \vec{T} \vec{e}_{-}$ obeys the relation $\vec{h} \times \vec{m} = i\vec{m}$. Eq. (80) follows from Eqs. (77), (78), and (79). The Wong's equation (1) can also be obtained in this case. Namely, $\vec{x}_{\pm}(t)$ obey the equations

$$m\ddot{\vec{x}}_{\pm}(t) = \pm \frac{g}{2} \left(\vec{E} + \frac{1}{c} \vec{x}_{\pm} \times \vec{B} \right). \tag{81}$$

Then it is easy to see that the center of mass,

$$\vec{x}(t) = |c_+|^2 \vec{x}_+(t) + |c_-|^2 \vec{x}_-(t)$$

obeys Eq. (1), because $\vec{h}\vec{l} = \frac{1}{2}(|c_{+}|^{2} - |c_{-}|^{2})$ as it follows from Eq. (80).

The condition (76) is obeyed for sufficiently small t because of the equality of initial positions and velocities. However, for larger t it is not satisfied in general because of the influence of the external field. Then there is no satisfactory notion of a classical trajectory of a pointlike particle. Also, Wong's equation (2) then gives wrong prediction for $\vec{I}(t)$. For the potential (68), namely, it predicts in general a rotation around \vec{h} for all t, while Eqs. (79), (73) and (75) give

$$\vec{I}(t) = \frac{1}{2} (|c_{+}|^{2} - |c_{-}|^{2}) \vec{h} = \text{const}$$
 (82)

when the two wave packets φ_{\pm} become spatially separated.

Now we would like to present another argument for the lack of the point-particle-like classical limit. As is well-known, in the Abelian case the classical limit can be obtained by the substitution

$$\psi = \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar} S\right)$$

into the Schrödinger equation and letting $h \to 0$. The real number valued function S turn out to satisfy the classical Hamilton-Jacob equation. In the Nonabelian case we can substitute

$$\vec{\psi} = \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar} S\right) \vec{f}.$$

In the leading order in h we obtain

$$-\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{2m} \vec{f}^{+} \left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial \vec{x}} - \frac{g}{c} \vec{A}^{a} \hat{T}^{a} \right) \vec{f} + g A_{0}^{a} \vec{f}^{+} \hat{T}^{a} \vec{f}, \tag{83}$$

and

$$\left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial \vec{x}} - \frac{g}{c} \vec{A}^a \hat{T}^a\right)^2 \vec{f} = \left[\vec{f}^+ \left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial \vec{x}} - \frac{g}{c} \vec{A}^a \hat{T}^a\right)^2 \vec{f}\right] \vec{f}.$$
 (84)

The last equation implies that \vec{f} is an eigenvector of $h^a\hat{T}^a$ because A_i^a has the form (68). This means that $\vec{f} = \vec{e}_{\pm}$, as calculated in Eq. (70). Thus, from (83) we obtain two Hamilton-Jacobi equations, one with electric charge +g/2, the other one with -g/2. Thus we again find the two independent classical motions.

Let us also consider the gauge potential of a more Nonabelian type that Eq. (68) namely

$$A_0^a = 0, \quad A_i^a = A\delta_i^a, \tag{85}$$

A—constant. Such a potential gives $E^{ai}=0$, $B^{ai}=\frac{Ag}{\hbar c}\delta^{ai}$. It is easy to check that the spectrum of the Hamiltonian (67) has two branches

$$E_{\pm}(\vec{p}) = \frac{1}{2m}\vec{p}^2 \mp \frac{Ag}{2mc}|\vec{p}| + \frac{3g^2A^2}{8mc^2}.$$
 (86)

Therefore, the initial wave packet (69) will have two components, each moving with different group velocity

$$\vec{v}_{\text{group}} = \frac{\partial E(\vec{p})}{\partial \vec{p}} \Big|_{\vec{p} = \vec{p}_0} = \frac{1}{m} \vec{p}_0 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{gA}{mc} \frac{\vec{p}_0}{|\vec{p}_0|}, \tag{87}$$

where p_0 is the center of the wave packet (6) in the momentum space².

² Let us note in passing that in this case the Wong's equations (1) and (2) have interesting integral of motion, namely $m\vec{x} + \hbar\vec{I}$, which resembles the well-known example of the Nonabelian monopole field [34]. [35] where $\vec{L} + \hbar\vec{I}$ is an integral of motion, \vec{L} — angular momentum of the particle.

The example (85) can be easily generalized to arbitrary constant potentials, $A^a_{\mu}=$ const. In both the considered cases, Eqs. (68) and (85), the splitting of the initial wave packet is due to the presence of the color operators \hat{T}^a . Therefore we think that this phenomenon is typical for most of Nonabelian gauge potentials, although we cannot exclude a possibility of the existing of particular gauge potentials in which the initial wave packet will not disperse on the macroscopic scale. On the whole we are led to the general conclusion that the relevancy of the classical mechanics of colored particles for the description of the classical limit of quantum mechanics of colored particles is restricted. Nevertheless, such a classical mechanics remains to be the very interesting example of selfconsistent classical mechanics of a particle with internal degrees of freedom for any external Nonabelian gauge field.

Our considerations can easily be generalized to SU(n) fields. Then, the equation (70) will have n different eigenvalues, and the initial wave packet will in general dissociate into n separate wave packets.

Let us end this Section with the following remark connected with the real, physical theory, i.e. QCD. The above presented considerations suggest that the color charged matter, i.e. the quark matter, placed in an external classical Nonabelian gauge field in general will tend to disperse all over the space. For example, one can consider the potential of the form $A^a_{\mu}(\vec{x}) = A_{\mu}(\vec{x})h^a(\vec{x})$, where $h^a(\vec{x})$ is constant in each of regions Ω_i covering the whole space, however the direction of \vec{h} changes from region to region. Then the initial wave packet will dissociate into many separate wave packets, the number of them depends on the number of the crossed regions Ω_i . According to e.g. Ref. [50] the QCD vacuum is filled with randomly fluctuating Nonabelian gauge fields. In such a vacuum, in order to have a localized clot of color charged matter propagating in a definite direction it is necessary to have a strong force binding the matter together in order to prevent it from dispersing over the space. The commonly conjectured confinement force could be such a force. Without this force all matter would disperse all over the space!

I.4. Final remarks

The formal aspects of classical mechanics of colored spinless particle were investigated in a number of papers — see [30, 32, 33, 46] and references therein. In particular, the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formulations of the classical mechanics were constructed, and usefulness of Grassmann variables was advocated. The classical mechanics of particles with spin also was considered in numerous papers, see [51, 52] and references therein. Particles bearing both spin and color spin were considered earlier in [30, 33], and recently in [44], however within an entirely different framework. Our work indicates the possibility of nontrivial mixing between spin and color, resulting in the new classical observable $[J^{ab}]$.

Much less investigated was the problem of correspondence between the classical mechanics and quantum mechanics of colored particles. The treatment in the pioneering paper [29] was not satisfactory. We find that such a relation is very limited — it is difficult to extract the notion of classical trajectory of the colored particle from quantum mechanics. This fact corresponds rather well with the commonly believed confinement of colored particles.

Finally, let us mention that even though classical particle with color spin is not a physical object, the classical mechanics of colored particles can be a useful theoretical model. For example, it helps to formulate hypotheses about properties of color interactions, see e.g. [31, 35, 36]. Also it can be applied directly in quantum calculations within the framework of the proper time method [53], see e.g. [54–56].

Part II: Nonabelian Gauge Fields Generated by External Sources

II.1. Rudiments of the theory of Nonabelian gauge fields in the presence of external sources

II.1.1. Energy of the system of Nonabelian gauge fields and external sources

In the following we consider SU(2) gauge fields. We frequently use matrix notation

$$\hat{A}_{\mu} = A_{\mu}^{a} T^{a},\tag{1}$$

where $T^a = \sigma^a/2$ are the generators of SU(2) gauge group,

$$[T^a, T^b] = i\varepsilon_{abc}T^c. (2)$$

The field strength tensor is

$$\hat{F}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\hat{A}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\hat{A}_{\mu} + ig[\hat{A}_{\mu}, \hat{A}_{\nu}].^{3}$$
(3)

In the presence of an external source Yang-Mills equations have the form

$$D_{\mu}\hat{F}^{\mu\nu} = \hat{j}^{\nu},\tag{4}$$

where \hat{j}^{ν} is the external source, and

$$D_{\mu}\hat{F}^{\mu\nu} = \hat{\sigma}_{\mu}\hat{F}^{\mu\nu} + ig[\hat{A}_{\mu}, \hat{F}^{\mu\nu}] \tag{5}$$

is the covariant derivative of the field strength tensor. From (4) it follows that

$$D_{\mu}\hat{J}^{\mu}=0,\tag{6}$$

where

$$D_{\mu}\hat{j}^{\alpha} = \partial_{\mu}\hat{j}^{\alpha} + ig[\hat{A}_{\mu}, \hat{j}^{\alpha}].$$

This condition is a consistency condition. If \hat{A}_{μ} does not obey (6), then it can not solve (4). Observe that because (6) involves \hat{A}_{μ} , it can not be regarded as a simple condition on

³ In this part we use the units c = h = 1.

 \hat{j}_{μ} . This is in contrast to the Abelian case, in which we have $\partial_{\mu}j^{\mu}=0$ what can be obeyed just by an appropriate choice of j_{μ} . In practice (6) is the fifth (matrix) equation for \hat{A}_{μ} .

The Nonabelian gauge transformations have the form

$$\hat{A}'_{\mu} = \omega \hat{A}_{\mu} \omega^{-1} + \frac{i}{g} \,\hat{\sigma}_{\mu} \omega \omega^{-1},\tag{7}$$

$$\hat{F}'_{\mu\nu} = \omega \hat{F}_{\mu\nu} \omega^{-1},\tag{8}$$

$$\hat{j}'_{\mu} = \omega \hat{j}_{\mu} \omega^{-1},\tag{9}$$

where $\omega = \omega(\vec{x}, t) \in SU(2)$. The Yang-Mills equations (4) are covariant under these transformations.

The equation following from (4) for v = 0 is the Nonabelian Gauss law

$$D_i \hat{F}^{i0} = \hat{j}^0. {10}$$

It is easy to check that it is sufficient to impose (10) at certain instant $t = t_0$ — due to the other Yang-Mills equations it will be obeyed for all t. This follows from the equation

$$D_0(D_i \hat{F}^{i0} - \hat{j}^0) = 0.$$

Thus, (10) is in fact a constraint on the initial data for time-dependent Yang-Mills equations.

Now we shall consider the energy of the system of external sources and gauge fields.

The energy-momentum tensor for Yang-Mills fields is (for a pedagogical derivation see, e.g. [57])

$$T^{\mu\nu} = -F^{a\mu\beta}F^{a\nu}_{\beta} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\mu\nu}F^{a\alpha\beta}F^{a}_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{11}$$

It is easy to check that from (4) it follows that

$$\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = -j^{a}_{\beta}F^{a\nu\beta}. \tag{12}$$

Thus, T^{00} is not conserved in general. However, in the particular case when $j_i^a = 0$ we have

$$\hat{\sigma}_{\mu}T^{\mu 0}=0, \tag{13}$$

and therefore

$$E = \int d^3\vec{x} T^{00} = \frac{1}{2} \int (E^{ai} E^{ai} + B^{ai} B^{ai}) d^3\vec{x}, \tag{14}$$

where

$$E^{ai} \equiv F^{a}_{0i}, \quad B^{ai} = -\frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{iks} F^{aks} \tag{15}$$

are the color electric and magnetic fields respectively, can be adopted as the conserved energy of the system of Yang-Mills fields and external color charge \hat{j}_0 .

The physical meaning of the formula (14) becomes a little bit more transparent when one decomposes the electric field into longitudinal and transverse components, [7]. The

longitudinal component is not an independent variable because it can be calculated from the Gauss law (10).

In the Abelian case, we have

$$\vec{E} = \vec{E}_{\rm T} + \vec{E}_{\rm L},$$

where

$$\operatorname{div} \vec{E}_{\mathrm{T}} = 0, \quad \operatorname{rot} \vec{E}_{\mathrm{L}} = 0, \quad \vec{E}_{\mathrm{L}} = -\operatorname{grad} \chi,$$

and from the Abelian Gauss law

$$\Delta \chi = -\varrho$$

where $\varrho \equiv j_0$. Then, the energy can be written as

$$E = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3 \vec{x} (\vec{E}^2 + \vec{B}^2) = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3 \vec{x} (\vec{E}_T^2 + \vec{B}^2) + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int \frac{\varrho(\vec{x})\varrho(\vec{x}')}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} d^3 \vec{x} d^3 \vec{x}'.$$
 (16)

The first term on the r.h.s. of (16) gives the energy stored in the degrees of freedom which are intrinsic to the gauge field, while the second term is the energy due to the presence of the external charge. It is also clear that \vec{E}_L is not a dynamical variable because it is fixed completely by the Gauss law constraint.

In the Nonabelian case such a simple interpretation of (14) is not possible. Namely, from the Nonabelian Gauss law (10) we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2} \int (\vec{E}_L^a)^2 d^3 \vec{x} = -\frac{1}{2} \int (\hat{\delta}^{-1} \varrho^{\text{tot}}) \Delta (\hat{\delta}^{-1} \varrho^{\text{tot}}) d^3 \vec{x}, \tag{17}$$

where

$$\varrho^{\text{tot}}(\vec{x}, t) = \hat{j}_0(\vec{x}) + ig[\hat{A}_i(\vec{x}, t), \hat{E}_T(\vec{x}, t)],$$
 (18)

and $\hat{\delta}$ is the operator with matrix elements

$$\hat{\delta}^{ab} = \delta_{ab} \Delta - \varepsilon_{abc} A_i^c \partial_i \tag{19}$$

where δ_{ab} is the Kronecker delta, Δ is the laplacian. The operator $\hat{\delta}$ becomes symmetric when A_i^a obeys the Coulomb gauge condition $\partial_i A_i^a = 0$. In (18) we have noted that the gauge fields can in principle depend on time, although the external charge \hat{j}_0 is static. From (17) we obtain

$$E = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3 \vec{x} [(\vec{E}_T^a)^2 + (\vec{B}^a)^2] - \frac{1}{2} \int d^3 \vec{x} (\hat{\delta}^{-1} \varrho^{\text{tot}}) \Delta (\hat{\delta}^{-1} \varrho^{\text{tot}}).$$
 (20)

The formula (20) differs from the Abelian formula (16) in two important respects. First, both terms on the r.h.s. of (20) contain \hat{A}_i fields. Thus, the separation on pure gauge field part and pure external charge part does not happen in this case. Secondly, the $\hat{\delta}$ operator in some cases is not invertible. This problem is closely related to the existence of so called infinitesimal Gribov copies in the Coulomb gauge. The meaning of this fact is that \vec{E}_L^a still contains certain degrees of freedom which should be regarded as dynamical ones because \vec{E}_L^a is not determined uniquely by the external charge and \vec{A}^a , \vec{E}_L^a via the Gauss

law constraint. To our best knowledge, up to now no one was able to succeed in separating those degrees of freedom from \vec{E}_{L}^{a} .

Now, let us consider the general case, in which j_i^a can be different from zero. It is not difficult to check that the quantity

$$E_0 = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3 \vec{x} [(E^{ai})^2 + (B^{ai})^2] - \int d^3 \vec{x} j^{ai} A^{ai}$$
 (21)

is constant in time if A_{μ}^{a} obeys (4). However, it is easy to check that the term

$$\int d^3\vec{x}j^{ai}A^{ai}$$

is not gauge invariant [21], [58]. Therefore, (21) is not a satisfactory expression for the energy. We propose two possible ways to solve this difficulty.

The first possibility [27] is to add to (21) another gauge noninvariant contribution describing the internal energy of the external color currents, chosen in such a way that the total expression becomes gauge invariant. For example, we can do this by reinterpreting \hat{j}^i as a quark current

$$j^{a\mu}(\vec{x}) = g\bar{\psi}(\vec{x})\gamma^{\mu}T^{a}\psi(\vec{x}), \tag{22}$$

where the bispinor $\psi(\vec{x})$ transforms under fundamental representation of SU(2). We assume that $\psi(\vec{x})$ does not depend on time in order to have time-independent $j^{a\mu}$. Then, we can add to the r.h.s. of (21) the term

$$E_{\rm int} = -i \int \bar{\psi}(\vec{x}) \gamma^i \partial_i \psi(\vec{x}) d^3 \vec{x} + m \int \bar{\psi}(\vec{x}) \psi(\vec{x}) d^3 \vec{x}. \tag{23}$$

It is easy to see that

$$E = E_0 + E_{\text{int}} \tag{24}$$

is gauge invariant and constant in time. Observe also that when $\hat{j}_i = 0$, then $E_{\rm int}$ becomes gauge invariant. Therefore, $E_{\rm int}$ can be included into E also when $\hat{j}_i = 0$. This rather natural solution to the problem of gauge invariance of the energy has the following important consequence: it is not enough to specify $\hat{j}_{\mu}(\vec{x})$ in order to calculate the energy of the system. One should know rather the external field $\psi(\vec{x})$ instead of the external source $\hat{j}_{\mu}(\vec{x})$ in order to have the full specification of the system.

The second possible way to avoid the difficulty is to change the form of the coupling of the gauge field to the external source \hat{j}_{μ} , i.e. instead of

$$\int j^{a\mu} A^a_{\ \mu} d^3 \vec{x}$$

to write a different, gauge invariant expression. We will describe our proposal in more detail in Section II.3. Here we would like only to mention that this general line of improving the theory of external colored sources was pursued also by Nambu and Venturi, [58], although in different manner. In our opinion the first proposed solution, based on (22)–(24) is more natural from the point of view of the standard CCD, in which selfinteracting Yang-Mills fields are coupled to quark fields.

II.1.2. Gauge invariant characteristics of the external color charges

From (9) it follows that the color 4-current density \hat{j}_{ν} is not gauge invariant, in contrary to the Abelian case in which the electric current is gauge invariant.

It is natural to ask what are gauge invariant features of the external color charge. Of course, gauge invariant are the local quantities

$$h_{\mu\nu}(\vec{x},t) = \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr} \left[\hat{j}_{\mu}(\vec{x},t) \hat{j}_{\nu}(\vec{x},t) \right].$$
 (25)

The diagonal elements h_{vv} are the moduli of the components of the current density \hat{j}_{v} . We would like to point out that there also exist certain global characteristics of the external color current, [28] which are invariant under so called small gauge transformations.

For definiteness, let us consider the time-independent color charge density $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x}) = j_0^a(\vec{x}) \frac{\sigma^a}{2}$.

We also assume that

$$j_0^a(\vec{x}) = e^a(\vec{x})f(\vec{x}),$$
 (26)

where $|\vec{e}| = 1$, and $f(\vec{x}) \neq 0$, possibly except for the single point $\vec{x} = 0$. This assumption about $f(\vec{x})$ is a technical one. It can be avoided at price of complicating of the analysis. We assume also that $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x})$ is continuous. The color structure of \hat{j}_0 is entirely described by $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$.

The gauge invariant characteristics of $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ is given by the winding number $\pi_2[\vec{e}]$, called also the Kronecker index — an element of the second homotopy group π_2 . This topological number is present here because $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ defines a continuous mapping of the sphere $S^2: |\vec{x}| = R$, R > 0, into the sphere $S^2: |\vec{e}| = 1$, and such mappings are classified accordingly to π_2 , [59, 60]. This number is invariant under continuous deformations of the mapping $\vec{e}(\vec{x}): S^2 \to S^2$. From this fact it follows that $\pi_2[\vec{e}]$ does not depend on the radius $R(\neq 0)$. It also follows that $\pi_2[\vec{e}]$ is gauge invariant. Namely, mappings $S^2 \ni \vec{x} \to \omega(\vec{x}) \in SU(2) = S^3$ are topologically trivial [59, 60]. Therefore one can continuously deform $\omega(\vec{x})$, $|\vec{x}| = R$, into the unit matrix. This deformation of $\omega(\vec{x})$ gives also a continuous deformation of $\hat{e}'(\vec{x})$, defined as

$$\hat{e}'(\vec{x}) = \omega(\vec{x})\hat{e}(\vec{x})\omega^{-1}(\vec{x})$$

into $\hat{e}(\vec{x})$. Thus, $\pi_2[\vec{e}]$ is gauge invariant, because $\pi_2[\hat{e}'] = \pi_2[\hat{e}]$.

Of course, when $\pi_2[\vec{e}] \neq 0$, $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ has to be singular at least at one point. With the assumptions following (26) this point is $\vec{x} = 0$. In this case we have to take f(0) = 0 in order to keep $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x})$ continuous.

Example of $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ such that $\pi_2[\vec{e}] = k$ is given by

$$\hat{e}(\vec{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} \sin \vartheta & \cos k\varphi \\ \sin \vartheta & \sin k\varphi \\ \cos \vartheta \end{pmatrix}, \tag{27}$$

9, φ —spherical angles, k—integer. The case k=1 was investigated in [7, 8]. For |k| > 1 no exact solution is known. Likely, such solutions can not be spherically symmetrical. However, it is possible to obtain approximate solutions by perturbative expansion in powers of \hat{j}_0 , see Section II.2.2.

Now, let us consider in more detail the class of $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ characterized by $\pi_2[\vec{e}] = 0$. Utilising regular gauge transformations it is possible to transform this class of external color charges into the Abelian gauge frame, in which

$$\hat{e}(\vec{x}) = \frac{\sigma^3}{2} \,. \tag{28}$$

This follows from the facts that: 1) such $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ can be continuously deformed to the constant map, $\vec{e}(\vec{x}) = \text{const}$, for each $R = |\vec{x}|$, 2) continuous deformation of $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ is equivalent to local rotations of $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$, i.e., it is equivalent to the gauge transformations. Moreover, $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ does not have to have the topological singularity at $\vec{x} = 0$ induced by behaviour of $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ at $\vec{x} = 0$. Therefore, we assume that $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ is regular everywhere. Now we will show that this class of $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ admits for a topological subclassification.

Namely, consider $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ such that

$$\hat{e}(\vec{x}) \to \frac{\sigma^3}{2} \tag{29}$$

when $|\vec{x}| \to \infty$. Then, $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ becomes constant at spatial infinity and therefore we can pass from R^3 to its compactification S^3 , still keeping $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ continuous. Thus, such $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ can be considered as a continuous mapping from S^3 into S^2 . Such mappings are known to be classified by the Hopf index $h[\vec{e}]$, [59, 60].

Of course, even if $h[\vec{e}] \neq 0$, one can find $\omega(\vec{x})$ such that

$$\omega^{-1}\hat{e}(\vec{x})\omega = \frac{\sigma^3}{2}.$$
 (30)

However, it is possible to prove that such $\omega(\vec{x})$ themselves are characterized by nonzero winding number $\pi_2[\omega]$:

$$\pi_3[\omega] = h[\vec{e}]. \tag{31}$$

Here, $\pi_3[\omega]$ is an element of the third homotopy group, which classifies mappings from S^3 (compactified R^3) to another S^3 (formed by the manifold of SU(2) group). The equality (31) follows from another equality (38), proved below.

Gauge transformations $\omega(\vec{x})$ such that $\pi_3[\omega] \neq 0$ are called the large gauge transformations. It is well-known that they have to be regarded on a different footing than small gauge transformations, i.e., those with $\pi_3[\omega] = 0$, [61]. The existence of the large gauge transformations implies the θ -vacuum and instanton tunneling in the quantized Yang-Mills theory. Therefore, it would be natural to expect that the external charges with nonzero Hopf index would play an essential role in a classical gauge theory which somehow takes into account the presence of the θ -vacuum.

It is well-known that one can construct the conserved current $J_{\rm H}^{\mu}[\vec{e}]$ corresponding to the Hopf index regarded as a conserved (topological) charge, [62]. This current is constructed as follows. Introduce the antisymmetric tensor

$$f_{\mu\nu} = (\partial_{\mu}\vec{e} \times \partial_{\nu}\vec{e})\vec{e} \tag{32}$$

and introduce the potentials

$$f_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu} a_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} a_{\mu}. \tag{33}$$

Then, the current is given by the following formula

$$J_{\rm H}^{\mu}[\vec{e}] = \frac{1}{32\pi^2} \, \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\varrho\sigma} f_{\varrho\sigma} a_{\nu}. \tag{34}$$

The Hopf index is given by

$$h[\vec{e}] = \int d^3\vec{x} J_{\rm H}^0[\vec{e}]. \tag{35}$$

Similarly, one can construct the conserved current corresponding to the winding number $\pi_3[\omega]$:

$$J_{W}^{\mu}[\omega] = \frac{1}{24\pi^{2}} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\varrho\sigma} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\partial_{\nu}\omega\omega^{-1}\partial_{\varrho}\omega\omega^{-1}\partial_{\sigma}\omega\omega^{-1}\right]. \tag{36}$$

The winding number is given by

$$\pi_3[\omega] = \int d^3\vec{x} J_W^0[\omega]. \tag{37}$$

From (34), (36) it is clear that spatial topological currents are present when the external color charge is time-dependent. In the time-independent case they vanish, and the four-currents reduce to the Hopf index density and the winding number density.

Now we shall prove that

$$J_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mu}[\vec{e}] = J_{\mathrm{W}}^{\mu}[\omega],\tag{38}$$

where

$$\vec{e}\vec{\sigma} = \omega\sigma^3\omega^{-1}. (39)$$

From (38) taken for $\mu = 0$, together with (35), (37), follows the equality (31).

The proof of (38) is the following. Substituting (39) into (32) it is easy to find the potentials a_v defined by (33),

$$a_{\nu} = -i \operatorname{Tr} \left[\sigma^{3} \omega^{-1} \partial_{\nu} \omega \right].$$

As the next step, we prove that

$$J_{\rm H}^{\mu}[\vec{e}] = \frac{1}{6\pi^2} \, \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \, {\rm Tr} \, [\hat{a}_{\nu}^{\dagger} \hat{c}_{\varrho} \hat{a}_{\sigma}], \tag{40}$$

where

$$\hat{a}_{\nu} = \frac{\sigma^3}{2} \, \omega^{-1} \hat{\sigma}_{\nu} \omega.$$

The proof of (40) is nothing more than tedious algebra based on the following parametrization of ω :

SU(2)
$$\ni \omega = \varphi^0 \sigma^0 + i \vec{\varphi} \vec{\sigma}, \quad (\varphi^0)^2 + \vec{\varphi}^2 = 1.$$

It is easy to see that the r.h.s. of (40) is equal to $J_{\mathbf{w}}^{\mu}[\omega]$.

Let us generalize the above considerations to the time-dependent external color charges $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x}, t)$. From the condition (6) it follows that

$$\partial_0 \hat{j}_0 - ig[\hat{A}_0, \hat{j}_0] = 0, \tag{41}$$

i.e.,

$$\hat{j}_0(\vec{x}, t) = u(t, 0|\vec{x})\hat{j}_0(\vec{x}, 0)u^{-1}(t, 0|\vec{x}), \tag{42}$$

where

$$u(t, 0|\vec{x}) = \text{T} \exp \left[ig \int_{0}^{t} \hat{A}_{0}(\vec{x}, t')dt'\right]$$
 (43)

is an element of SU(2), T denotes time ordering. From (42) it follows that the time evolution of \hat{j}_0 is described by time-dependent gauge transformations. As we know, continuous gauge transformations can not change the topological number $\pi_2[\vec{e}]$. Therefore, the basic classification of \hat{j}_0 , based on the second homotopy group π_2 , holds also for time-dependent external color charges \hat{j}_0 , provided that the time evolution is continuous.

What concerns the Hopf index subclassification in the sector $\pi_2[\vec{e}] = 0$, it also holds for time-dependent charges under some assumptions. Because time evolution (42) is assumed to be continuous, it can be regarded as a continuous deformation of the vector field $\vec{e}(\vec{x}, t = 0)$, and therefore it can not change the value of the Hopf index $h[\vec{e}(\vec{x}, t)]$ which takes discrete (integer) values only. However, it is important that (42) does not change the boundary conditions imposed on $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ at spatial infinity. This is equivalent to

the assumption that $\lim_{|\vec{x}| \to \infty} \vec{e}(\vec{x}, t)$ is time independent (and equal to $\frac{\sigma^3}{2}$). Only if this assumption is satisfied, the Hopf index subclassification can be extended to time-dependent color charges.

The presented topological classification of external charges is kinematical one in the sense that it is entirely based on the fact that the color current has values in 3-dimensional space. It has not been clarified whether the topological characteristics of the external charge somehow manifest themselves in the form of solutions of Yang-Mills equations with the external charge. In this respect, an interesting example is discussed in Section II.2.3—an external color charge with Hopf index ± 1 is shown to support perturbative Nonabelian Coulomb solution.

It is also not clear how to generalize the above classification to SU(n), n > 2, gauge groups.

II.2. Examples of Nonabelian gauge fields generated by external sources

II.2.1. The Abelian Coulomb solution for the system of spatially separated external charges

Classical Yang-Mills equations with nonvanishing external sources provide us with a relatively simple example of color interactions. Solutions of these equations possess a number of rather peculiar properties. This can be observed even in the simplest case of the Abelian Coulomb solution presented below, [6].

The equations have the form (4) of the Chapter II.1

$$D_{\mu}\hat{F}^{\mu\nu} = \hat{j}^{\nu},\tag{1}$$

where the external color current \hat{j}^{ν} obeys the condition (6) of the Chapter II.1

$$D_{\mu}\hat{J}^{\mu} = 0. \tag{2}$$

We use the matrix notation

$$\hat{j}^{\nu}=j^{a\nu}\frac{\sigma^a}{2},\quad \hat{F}^{\mu\nu}=F^{a\mu\nu}\frac{\sigma^a}{2},$$

 $a = 1, 2, 3, \sigma^a$ — Pauli matrices. The covariant derivative has the form

$$D_{\mu}(\cdot)^{\varrho} = \partial_{\mu}(\cdot)^{\varrho} + ig[\hat{A}_{\mu},(\cdot)^{\varrho}].$$

In the following we shall consider only the case without spatial currents

$$\hat{j}^{\nu}(\vec{x},t) = \delta^{\nu 0} \hat{j}_0(\vec{x},t) \tag{3}$$

with $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x}, t)$ continuous.

Let us now consider the case of time independent $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x})$, nonvanishing only in several disconnected, bounded regions $\Omega_1, \Omega_2, ..., \Omega_N$ of space. Then, we can write

$$\hat{j}_0(\vec{x}) = g \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \hat{K}_{\alpha}(\vec{x}), \tag{4}$$

where

$$\hat{K}_{\alpha}(\vec{x}) = \begin{cases} \neq 0 & \text{for } \vec{x} \in \Omega_{\alpha}, \\ = 0 & \text{for } \vec{x} \notin \Omega_{\alpha}. \end{cases}$$

Utilising gauge transformations

$$\hat{A}'_{\mu} = \omega \hat{A}_{\mu} \omega^{-1} + \frac{i}{g} \, \hat{\sigma}_{\mu} \omega \omega^{-1}, \tag{5}$$

$$\hat{j}'_{\mu} = \omega \hat{j}_{\mu} \omega^{-1}, \tag{6}$$

where $\omega \in SU(2)$ is appropriately chosen, it is sometimes possible to rotate in color space the charge density $\hat{j}_0(x)$ in such a way that it will become parallel or antiparallel to the

third directions in color space, i.e.,

$$\hat{j}_0'(\vec{x}) = \frac{\sigma^3}{2} j_0'^3(\vec{x}). \tag{7}$$

This is the so called Abelian gauge frame.

The sign of $j_0'^3(\vec{x})$ has to be constant in each region Ω_x , i.e., $j_0'^a(\vec{x})$ has to be parallel or antiparallel to the third axis in color space in the whole Ω_x . Otherwise, the gauge transformation ω determined from (6), (7) would not be continuous. Uncontinuous gauge transformations are not allowed because of differentiations present in (5). (In fact, it is easy to give examples of singular gauge transformations which change physical characteristics of the system, like its energy.) However, the relative sign of $j_0'^3(\vec{x})$ between different Ω_x 's is not determined. This follows from the fact that in between the regions Ω_x the gauge transformation ω can be chosen freely, because $\hat{j}_0 = 0$ there. Therefore, one can always find a smooth gauge transformation $\omega(\vec{x})$ rotating $j_0'^a(\vec{x})$ from the antiparallel orientation to the parallel one, or vice versa, in a chosen region Ω_β , while not rotating $j_0'^a(\vec{x})$ in the other regions Ω_x , $\alpha \neq \beta$. For example, one can take $\omega(\vec{x}) = \omega_\beta(\vec{x})$, where

$$\omega_{\beta}(\vec{x}) = \begin{cases} \exp(i\sigma^2 \pi) & \text{for } \vec{x} \in \Omega_{\beta}, \\ 1 & \text{for } \vec{x} \in \Omega_{\alpha}, \quad \alpha \neq \beta, \end{cases}$$
 (8)

and for $\vec{x} \notin \Omega_{\alpha}$, $\alpha = 1, ..., N$, $\omega_{\beta}(\vec{x})$ interpolates smoothly between the values (8). Thus, we can write

$$\hat{j}_0'(\vec{x}) = \frac{\sigma^3}{2} g \sum_{\alpha=1}^N q_\alpha K_\alpha'(\vec{x})$$
 (9)

where $q_{\alpha} = \pm 1$, and $K'_{\alpha}(\vec{x}) > 0$. The value of q_{α} is not determined — it can be changed by the gauge transformations of the type (8).

With the external color charge (9) we assume the following Ansatz for \hat{A}'_u :

$$\hat{A}'_{i} = 0, \quad \hat{A}'_{0} = \frac{\sigma^{3}}{2} A'_{0}(\vec{x}). \tag{10}$$

Then (2) is satisfied automatically and (1) leads to the ordinary Poisson equation

$$\Delta A_0^{\prime 3}(\vec{x}) = g \sum_{\alpha=1}^N q_{\alpha} K_{\alpha}^{\prime}(\vec{x})$$

with the solution (vanishing at infinity)

$$A_0'^3(\vec{x}) = -\frac{g}{4\pi} \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \int \frac{K_{\alpha}'(\vec{x}')}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} d^3 \vec{x}'.$$

Performing the gauge transformation inverse to (5), (6) we calculate \hat{A}_{μ} , thus obtaining a solution to (1) and (2) with the external color charge (3). This solution is called the Coulomb solution.

The energy for this solution is

$$E = \frac{g^2}{32\pi^2} \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{N} q_{\alpha} q_{\beta} \int \frac{K'_{\alpha}(\vec{x}) K'_{\beta}(\vec{x}')}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} d^3 \vec{x} d^3 \vec{x}'.$$
 (11)

It depends on the choice of values for q_{α} . Thus, the fact that $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x})$ is not gauge invariant has lead to appearance of several physically different solutions. Therefore it would be interesting to identify certain gauge invariant features of the external color charge distribution $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x}, t)$. We have attempted to achieve this by ascribing to $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x}, t)$ topological numbers, Section II.1.2. The above method of solving Yang-Mills equations with external charges was proposed in [3] for continuous charges and in [6] for a set of pointlike charges.

In literature there are given also many other types of solutions besides the Coulomb solutions, like the "screening" solutions and "magnetic dipole" solution of Sikivie and Weiss [3] or time-dependent generalization of the Coulomb solutions, the "Nonabelian Coulomb" solution and its time-dependent generalization, and bifurcating solutions of Jackiw and collaborators, [7, 8]. There is no explanation why do all these solutions exist and what are they for. Only rather partial results on this are available. For example, below we shall argue that the Nonabelian Coulomb solution is intimately related to the charge with nonzero Hopf index.

II.2.2. The perturbative approach to Yang-Mills equations with weak external sources

Among many very interesting developments in the subject of classical Yang-Mills equations with external sources there is also an idea of a perturbative expansion of the classical solution in powers of the external charge, [7]. This idea is very attractive, because it is the proposal of systematic and calculable procedure for solving Yang-Mills equations even with complicated external charges. In the paper [7] only the lowest order approximation is presented. Next, it is there applied in order to show existence of a new interesting type of solutions, namely Nonabelian Coulomb solutions (see the definition in the next Section). The authors give two examples of external color charge densities for which the perturbative Nonabelian Coulomb solution exist. In this Section we investigate this perturbative method in more detail, [27].

It should be clearly stated that the perturbative method, although very useful, is not universal. There are solutions which can not be reached in the perturbative way. For example, type II solutions discovered in [7] do not exist for sufficiently small q.

We consider Yang-Mills equations with fixed, static color charge density

$$\hat{j}_{\mu} = \delta_{\mu 0} q \hat{\varrho}(\vec{x}) \equiv \delta_{\mu 0} \hat{j}_{0}(\vec{x}), \tag{12}$$

where q is a small parameter and $\hat{\varrho}$ is a smooth function vanishing at infinity. Here we again use the matrix notation, e.g. $\hat{\varrho} = \varrho^a \frac{\sigma^a}{2}$. The gauge group is SU(2). We assume

that solutions of these equations have the following form

$$\hat{A}_0 = q\hat{A}_0^{(1)} + q^3\hat{A}_0^{(3)} + \dots, \tag{13}$$

$$\hat{A}_i = q^2 \hat{A}_i^{(2)} + q^4 \hat{A}_i^{(4)} + \dots, \tag{14}$$

consistent with an analysis of powers of q in the equations. We find that Yang-Mills equations with external charge (12) admit the perturbative solution (13), (14) only if there is also present a spatial current

$$\hat{j}_i = q^2 \hat{j}_i^{(2)} + q^4 \hat{j}_i^{(4)} + \dots$$
 (15)

This unpleasant fact was not observed in [7]. The current \hat{j}_i is not arbitrary. It is induced by the assumed color charge (12) and it is necessary for consistency of the perturbative method. The phenomenon reminds very much examples from the quantum field theory, e.g. the inducing of $\lambda \varphi^4$ term is scalar electrodynamics, [63]. There the quartic term is necessary for applicability of perturbation theory, namely for its renormalizability.

If $\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x})$ obeys the condition

$$\Delta(\lambda^{-1}(\vec{x})\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x})) = -\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x}),\tag{16}$$

where $\lambda(\vec{x})$ is an arbitrary, non-vanishing regular function of \vec{x} , then the second order contribution to the current vanishes, $\hat{j}_i^{(2)} = 0$ although the color magnetic field in general need not vanish in this order. Therefore, this class of external charges is particularly interesting. It can support perturbative solutions of the magnetic type. In this case the possible presence of the magnetic field is due to particular features of the charge $\hat{\varrho}$, because the induced current of order q^4 at least cannot produce magnetic field of order q^2 . The condition (16) appears in the lowest order in q and therefore it was discovered in [7], although in a different way and with different interpretation. We give new examples of charges obeying this condition. The analysis of the perturbative procedure is presented in Section 2 of our paper.

We expect that for small q and smooth and localized $\hat{\varrho}(\bar{x})$ the perturbative series is convergent to an exact solution of Yang-Mills equations, because there is rather little room for a pathological behaviour under such strong regularity conditions. However, one assumption has to be added. The reason is that the perturbative procedure involves taking inverse of the operator of linearized Yang-Mills equations around the zeroth order solution. For the Ansatz (13), (14) the zeroth order solution is $\hat{A}_{\mu} = 0$. As it is well known, in gauge theories such operator is not invertible, unless one restricts the space of functions by adding a gauge condition. In our paper we assume that Coulomb gauge condition

$$\partial_i \hat{A}_i = 0.$$

For static, regular, and vanishing at infinity fields this condition is sufficient for invertibility of the linear operators. Of course, the solution calculated in the Coulomb gauge can afterwards be transformed to another gauge, if desired.

The Yang-Mills equations in the static case can be written in the form (g = 1)

$$\partial_k \hat{F}^{k0} + i[\hat{A}_k, \hat{F}^{k0}] = q\hat{\varrho}, \tag{17}$$

$$\partial_k \hat{F}^{ki} + i[\hat{A}_0, \hat{F}^{0i}] + i[\hat{A}_k, \hat{F}^{ki}] = -\hat{j}_i, \tag{18}$$

where

$$\hat{F}^{k0} = -\hat{o}_k \hat{A}_0 - i [\hat{A}_k, \hat{A}_0], \tag{19}$$

$$\hat{F}^{ki} = \partial_k \hat{A}_i - \partial_i \hat{A}_k + i [\hat{A}_k, \hat{A}_i]. \tag{20}$$

These equations have to be completed with the well-known consistency condition,

$$-\partial_i \hat{j}_i - i[\hat{A}_k, \hat{j}_k] + i[\hat{A}_0, q\hat{\varrho}] = 0.$$
 (21)

In this Section (21) is regarded as an equation for \hat{j}_k . Inserting (13), (14) and (15) we obtain order by order in q the following equations

$$\hat{o}_k \hat{j}_k^{(2)} = i[\hat{A}_0^{(1)}, \hat{\varrho}], \tag{22}$$

$$\partial_k \hat{j}_k^{(4)} = -i[\hat{A}_k^{(2)}, \hat{j}_k^{(2)}] + i[\hat{A}_0^{(3)}, \hat{\varrho}], \tag{23}$$

etc. We do not display higher order equations to save space. Their derivation is equally straightforward.

From these equations $\hat{j}_k^{(2n)}$ is determined up to a curl. In order to remove this non-uniqueness we can assume e.g., that the covariant curl of \hat{j}_k vanishes,

$$\varepsilon_{iks}(\partial_k \hat{j}_s + i[\hat{A}_k, \hat{j}_s]) = 0. \tag{24}$$

This condition determines the curl of $\hat{j}_k^{(2n)}$,

$$\varepsilon_{ik*}\partial_k \hat{j}_*^{(2)} = 0, \tag{25}$$

$$\varepsilon_{iks}\hat{\sigma}_{k}\hat{j}_{s}^{(4)} = -i\varepsilon_{iks}(\hat{A}_{k}^{(2)}\hat{j}_{s}^{(2)} - \hat{j}_{s}^{(2)}\hat{A}_{k}^{(2)}), \tag{26}$$

etc., what together with the divergence given by (22) and (23) fixes $\hat{j}_k^{(2n)}$ uniquely provided that we also assume that $\hat{j}_k^{(2n)}$ vanishes at $|\vec{x}| \to \infty$.

From (22) and (23) it follows that in general $\hat{j}_k^{(2n)} \neq 0$, because the commutators on the r.h.s. of (22) and (23) do not vanish. Thus, for the consistency of the method it is necessary to accompany the given external charge $\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x})$ by the external current \hat{j}_k of order q^2 or higher. This phenomenon reflects the Nonabelian nature of the theory because it is caused by nonvanishing commutators.

From (22) we see that if

$$\left[\hat{A}_0^{(1)}, \hat{\varrho}\right] = 0, \tag{27}$$

then we have $\hat{j}_i^{(2)} = 0$. However, $\hat{j}_i^{(4)} \neq 0$ in this case, in general. Vanishing $\hat{j}_i^{(4)}$ requires to satisfy another nontrivial condition, namely $[\hat{A}_0^{(3)}, \hat{\varrho}] = 0$.

Now let us turn to the equations for gauge potentials. From Eqs. (13), (14) and (17-20) we obtain the following equations for $\hat{A}_0^{(2n-1)}$,

$$\Delta \hat{A}_0^{(1)} = -\hat{\varrho},\tag{28}$$

$$\Delta \hat{A}_0^{(3)} = -2i[\hat{A}_k^{(2)}, \partial_k \hat{A}_0^{(1)}], \tag{29}$$

$$\Delta \hat{A}_0^{(5)} = -2i[\hat{A}_k^{(2)}, \hat{\sigma}_k \hat{A}_0^{(3)}] - 2i[\hat{A}_k^{(4)}, \hat{\sigma}_k \hat{A}_0^{(1)}] + [\hat{A}_k^{(2)}, [\hat{A}_k^{(2)}, \hat{A}_0^{(1)}]], \tag{30}$$

etc., when we have used the assumed Coulomb gauge condition for \hat{A}_k . The equations for the vector potential are the following

$$\Delta \hat{A}_{i}^{(2)} = -\hat{j}_{i}^{(2)} - i[\hat{A}_{0}^{(1)}, \hat{\sigma}_{i}\hat{A}_{0}^{(1)}], \tag{31}$$

$$\Delta \hat{A}_{i}^{(4)} = -\hat{j}_{i}^{(4)} + [\hat{A}_{0}^{(1)}, [\hat{A}_{i}^{(2)}, \hat{A}_{0}^{(1)}]] - i[\hat{A}_{0}^{(3)}, \partial_{i}\hat{A}_{0}^{(1)}]$$

$$-i[\hat{A}_0^{(1)}, \partial_i \hat{A}_0^{(3)}] + i[\hat{A}_k^{(2)}, \partial_i \hat{A}_k^{(2)}] - 2i[\hat{A}_k^{(2)}, \partial_k \hat{A}_i^{(2)}], \tag{32}$$

etc.

In the first step of the procedure we determine $\hat{A}_0^{(1)}$ and then $\hat{j}_i^{(2)}$ and $\hat{A}_i^{(2)}$. In the next step we calculate $\hat{A}_0^{(3)}$ and $\hat{j}_k^{(4)}$, $\hat{A}_k^{(4)}$. Equations (28)-(32) require to specify the boundary conditions at infinity. We choose them to be the same as in the electromagnetics, i.e. for the localized external source all potentials should vanish at infinity.

Let us now come back to the condition (27). For SU(2) gauge group it implies that

$$\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x}) = \lambda(\vec{x})\hat{A}_0^{(1)}(\vec{x}),\tag{33}$$

where $\lambda(\vec{x})$ is an arbitrary function. The equation (28) then takes the form of the condition (16) for $\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x})$. Equivalently, one can consider

$$\Delta \hat{A}_0^{(1)}(\vec{x}) = -\lambda(\vec{x})\hat{A}_0^{(1)}(\vec{x}). \tag{34}$$

The condition (34) is of course obeyed by any Abelian configuration, $\hat{A}_0^{(1)} \sim \frac{\sigma^3}{2}$.

The external charge with nonzero Hopf index ± 1 is another example in which the condition (16) is obeyed. It will be considered in the next Section. Yet another example is provided by external charges whose orientation in color space is characterized by arbitrary, nonzero Kronecker index K. That is, we take

$$\vec{\varrho}(\vec{x}) = \varrho(\vec{x})\vec{e}(\vec{x}),$$

where

$$\vec{e}(\vec{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} \sin \vartheta & \cos K\varphi \\ \sin \vartheta & \sin K\varphi \\ \cos \vartheta \end{pmatrix},$$

and $\varrho(\vec{x})$ is a function vanishing for $\vec{x} = 0$ in order to ensure continuity of $\vec{\varrho}(\vec{x})$ at $\vec{x} = 0$. Because of (33) we have

$$\vec{A}_0^{(1)}(\vec{x}) = \psi(\vec{x})\vec{e}(\vec{x}), \quad \psi(\vec{x}) = \lambda^{-1}(\vec{x})\varrho(\vec{x}).$$

Substituting this to (34) we obtain three equations, from which it follows in spherical coordinates that

$$\psi(r, \vartheta, \varphi) = f(r) \left(\sin \vartheta\right)^{\frac{K^2 - 1}{2}},\tag{35}$$

where f(r) is any regular function of $r = |\vec{x}|$ vanishing at r = 0 in order to ensure continuity of $\hat{A}_0^{(1)}$ at the origin. From the same equations it follows that

$$\lambda(\vec{x}) = -\frac{1}{r^2} \frac{1}{f(r)} \frac{d}{dr} \left(r^2 \frac{d}{dr} f \right) - \frac{(K^2 - 1)^2}{4r^2 \sin^2 \theta} + \frac{K^4 - 1}{4} + K^2 + 1.$$

Therefore,

$$\varrho(\vec{x}) = \frac{1}{r^2} \left[-\frac{d}{dr} \left(r^2 \frac{df}{dr} \right) - f(r) \frac{(K^2 - 1)^2}{4 \sin^2 \theta} + f(r) \left(\frac{K^4 - 1}{4} + K^2 + 1 \right) \right] (\sin \theta)^{\frac{K^2 - 1}{2}}.$$
 (36)

From (36) it follows that f(r) should behave like $r^{2+\delta}$, $\delta > 0$, for $r \to 0$, in order $\varrho(0) = 0$. We also see that only for $K^2 = 1$ the external charge $\vec{\varrho}(\vec{x})$ becomes spherically symmetrical (this case was considered in [7]), and that for K = 2 it has singularity for $\theta = 0$, π of the integrable type.

The number of examples of charges obeying (16) (which is equivalent to (34)) can also be sometimes increased by utilising the well-known behaviour of the Laplace operator under inversions. It is easy to check that if $\hat{A}_0^{(1)}(\vec{x})$ obeys (34), then

$$\hat{A}'_0(\vec{x}) = \frac{1}{r} \hat{A}_0^{(1)} \left(\frac{R^2}{r}, \vartheta, \varphi \right), \tag{37}$$

where $\vec{x} = (r, \vartheta, \varphi)$ and R is a fixed radius, also obeys (34) with $\lambda(\vec{x})$ replaced by

$$\lambda'(\vec{x}) = \frac{R^4}{r^4} \lambda\left(\frac{R^2}{r}, \vartheta, \varphi\right).$$

The above examples are so general that from (37) we do not obtain a new example. However, for the example discussed in the next Section, the transformation (37) leads to a new form of the external color charge.

II.2.3. The perturbative Nonabelian Coulomb solution

The perturbative method of solving of classical Yang-Mills equations is exceptionally well-suited for investigations of the Nonabelian Coulomb solutions, because they are defined through their behaviour in the limit $q \to 0$. The definition, given in [7], requires

first to transform $\hat{\varrho}$ to the so called Abelian gauge frame in which

$$\hat{\varrho}'(\vec{x}) = \varrho(\vec{x}) \frac{\sigma^3}{2}. \tag{38}$$

Then, the Nonabelian Coulomb (NC) solution is the static, finite energy solution which in the limit $q \to 0$ does not vanish and becomes the pure gauge

$$\hat{A}_0 = 0, \quad \hat{A}_i = i\hat{\sigma}_i \omega \omega^{-1}. \tag{39}$$

It should be added that $\omega(\vec{x})$ is a gauge transformation of such a type that \hat{A}_i in (39) cannot be gauge transformed to zero by gauge rotations around the 3rd axis, which leave the charge (38) invariant. The purpose of this complex definition is twofold. First, to distinguish NC solutions from more trivial Abelian Coulomb (AC) solutions, which exist for any charge of the form (38) and have the property that \hat{A}_0 and \hat{A}_i vanish when $q \to 0$ in the Abelian gauge frame (38) (up to static gauge transfomations leaving (38) invariant). Secondly, the pure gauge limit (39) for $q \to 0$ ensures that the nonzero strengths for $q \neq 0$ are entirely due to the external charge, that is that the solution is not a superposition of a solution of sourceless Yang-Mills equations with e.g. AC solution.

In this Section we apply the perturbative method to the external charge (12) with $\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x})$ characterized by Hopf index ± 1 , [27]. We adjust $\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x})$ in order to obey the condition (16), and we calculate the solution in the lowest non-vanishing order. The solution is found to be of the NC type, in accordance with our prediction [28] that the external charge with nonzero Hopf index supports NC type solution.

The external charges characterized by nonzero topological currents (34) of the Chapter II.1 (and zero Kronecker index) lead in a very natural way to the Nonabelian Coulomb solution. To see this, we observe that in the Abelian gauge frame we still have some residual gauge freedom, namely the gauge transformations of the form

$$\omega_0(\vec{x},t) = \exp\left[\frac{i\sigma^3}{2}\chi(\vec{x},t)\right],\tag{40}$$

because they do not change the form (38) of the external charge. We shall have the Nonabelian Coulomb solution only if the limit (39) can not be compensated by gauge transformations (40). If the term (39) can be compensated, then

$$\partial_{\mu}\omega\omega^{-1} = \partial_{\mu}\omega_0\omega_0^{-1}. (41)$$

This however implies that $J_W^{\mu}[\omega] = 0$ because now all the terms on the r.h.s. of (36) of the Chapter II.1 commute, due to (41) and to the fact that ω_0 contains only commuting matrices σ^0 and σ^3 . Thus, if $J_W^{\mu}[\omega] = J_H^{\mu}[\vec{e}] \neq 0$, we can have the Nonabelian Coulomb solution. It is sufficient to find any solution of Yang-Mills equations for $\hat{j}_0(\vec{x})$ characterized by $J_H^{\mu}[\vec{e}] \neq 0$ and such that it tends to zero when $\hat{j}_0 \to 0$ (\vec{e} is related to \hat{j}_0 by (26) of the Chapter II.1). Then, after passing to the Abelian gauge frame by gauge transformations and after performing the limit $\hat{j}_0' \to 0$, we are left with the gauge term (39) which can not be compensated by gauge transformations (40).

The task of explicit obtaining the Nonabelian Coulomb solution is very difficult, because the charge \hat{j}_0 such that $J_H[\vec{e}] \neq 0$ is merely cylindrically symmetrical, implying cylindrically symmetrical solution of Yang-Mills equations at best. Precisely speaking, no explicit example of the exact Nonabelian Coulomb solution is known up to now.

Our perturbative solution has the limit (39) with $\omega(\vec{x})$ characterized by the winding number ± 1 . Therefore, our solution could be related to a gauge field generated by weak external charge of the form (38) immersed in a topologically nontrivial (i.e., nonzero winding number) sector of Yang-Mills θ -vacuum, [61]. This is one of the reasons that we find the external charge with nonzero Hopf index interesting.

Our example of the NC solution is nicer than the two examples presented in [7], because our external charge can be gauge rotated to the Abelian gauge frame by a regular and simple gauge transformation. In the first example presented in [7], the gauge transformation is singular. The second example in [7] contains three subcases. 1) The external charge already being in the Abelian gauge frame — then, the solution is not of the NC type. 2) The external charge can be homotopically deformed to a standard charge with nonzero Kronecker index — then the gauge transformation is singular. 3) The gauge transformation is regular, however it is very complicated — this makes it difficult to compare NC solution with AC solution for this charge.

The Hopf index enumerates continuous mappings from S^3 into S^2 . Its definition can be found, e.g. in [59, 60]. The continuous color charge distribution $\vec{\varrho}(\vec{x})$ can define such a mapping. Namely, we assume that $\vec{\varrho}(\vec{x}) \neq 0$. Then $\vec{e}(\vec{x}) = \vec{\varrho}(\vec{x})/|\vec{\varrho}(\vec{x})|$ has values in S^2 . In order to compactify R^3 to S^3 , we include the point at infinity. For continuity of the mapping it is then necessary to assume that $\lim_{\vec{e}(\vec{x}) = 0} \vec{e}(\vec{x}) = \text{const.}$, i.e. that it does not depend

on angles. In this way $\vec{e}(\vec{x})$ gives a continuous mapping from S^3 into S^2 .

It has been proved, in Section II.1.2, that the color charge distribution with orientation in color space characterized by the Hopf index H can be obtained from the charge in the Abelian gauge frame (38) by a topologically nontrivial gauge transformation, given by $\omega(\vec{x})$ with the winding number equal to H. The form of such a gauge transformation can be taken as

$$\omega_0(\vec{x}) = \cos\frac{\chi(r)}{2} + i\frac{\vec{x}}{r}\vec{\sigma}\sin\frac{\chi(r)}{2}, \tag{42}$$

where

$$\chi(0) = 0, \quad \chi(\infty) = 2\pi H. \tag{43}$$

Thus we have

$$\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x}) = \varrho(\vec{x})\omega_0(\vec{x})\frac{\sigma^3}{2}\omega_0^{-1}(\vec{x}),\tag{44}$$

where $\varrho(\vec{x}) \neq 0$. This gives

$$\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x}) = \frac{1}{2} \, \varrho(\vec{x}) \left(\cos \chi(r) \vec{a} \vec{\sigma} + \sin \chi(r) \, \frac{\vec{a} \times \vec{x}}{r} \, \vec{\sigma} + 2 \sin^2 \frac{\chi(r)}{2} \, \frac{\vec{\sigma} \vec{x}}{r} \, \frac{\vec{a} \vec{x}}{r} \right), \tag{45}$$

where we have introduced the vector $\vec{a} = (0, 0, 1)$ in order to simplify the formula.

The functions $\varrho(\vec{x})$, $\chi(r)$ we shall determine from the condition (16) for the magnetic type solutions. We assume from the beginning that $\varrho(\vec{x})$ and $\lambda(\vec{x})$ are spherically symmetrical. With this assumption the condition (16) can be obeyed only if $H^2 = 1$. Denoting $\varrho(r)/\lambda(r)$ by $\psi(r)$ as before, we obtain from (16) the following equations (dots denote differentiations with respect to r)

$$\ddot{\chi}\psi + \frac{2}{r}\dot{\chi}\psi + 2\dot{\chi}\dot{\psi} - \frac{2}{r^2}\psi\sin\chi = 0, \tag{46}$$

$$\ddot{\psi} - \psi \dot{\chi}^2 + \frac{2}{r} \dot{\psi} + \frac{2}{r^2} \psi \cos \chi - \frac{2}{r^2} \psi + \lambda \psi = 0, \tag{47}$$

$$\ddot{\psi} + \frac{2}{r}\dot{\psi} - \frac{4}{r^2}\psi + \frac{4}{r^2}\psi\cos\chi + \lambda\psi = 0. \tag{48}$$

Subtracting the last two equations we obtain

$$\dot{\chi}^2 + \frac{2}{r^2} (\cos \chi - 1) = 0, \tag{49}$$

which can be easily integrated. Taking into account the boundary conditions (43) we obtain

$$\gamma(r) = 4 \arctan(\mu r H), \tag{50}$$

where $H = \pm 1$ and μ is an arbitrary constant scale, $\mu > 0$.

Now, the equation (46) becomes the first order equation for $\psi(r)$. Its integration yields

$$\psi(r) = d(1 + \mu^2 r^2)^{-1/2},\tag{51}$$

where d is a constant. Next, we calculate $\varrho = \lambda \psi$ from, e.g. Eq. (48). The result is

$$\varrho(r) = 35\mu^2 d(1 + \mu^2 r^2)^{-5/2}. (52)$$

Observe that this function does not vanish for any finite r, as required at the beginning of this Section.

Thus, we have found the external color charge with $H^2 = 1$ obeying the magnetic condition (16). Because of (33) we also know $\hat{A}_0^{(1)}$,

$$\hat{A}_0^{(1)}(\vec{x}) = \frac{1}{2} \psi(r) \left[\cos \chi(r) \vec{a} \vec{\sigma} + \sin \chi(r) \frac{\vec{a} \times \vec{x}}{r} \vec{\sigma} + 2 \sin^2 \frac{\chi(r)}{2} \frac{\vec{\sigma} \vec{x}}{r} \frac{\vec{a} \vec{x}}{r} \right], \tag{53}$$

and we also have $\hat{j}_i^{(2)} = 0$.

Now we would like to calculate $\hat{A}_{i}^{(2)}$. From (31) we have

$$\Delta \hat{A}_{i}^{(2)} = -i[\hat{A}_{0}^{(1)}, \hat{c}_{i}\hat{A}_{0}^{(1)}], \tag{54}$$

where $\hat{A}_0^{(1)}$ is given by (53). The calculation of $\hat{A}_i^{(2)}$ from (54) is rather straightforward, although it is very tedious and leads to rather uninstructive formulae. Therefore we calculate here only the leading term for large r.

Because the r.h.s. of (54) behaves like r^{-4} for large r, we can write

$$\hat{A}_{i}^{(2)}(\vec{x}) = \frac{i}{4\pi} \int d^{3}\vec{x}' \frac{1}{|\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} \left[\hat{A}_{0}^{(1)}(\vec{x}'), \hat{o}_{i} \hat{A}_{0}^{(1)}(\vec{x}') \right]. \tag{55}$$

Next we use the standard multipole expansion [64]. Because the commutator on the r.h.s. of (55) has vanishing divergence, the magnetic pole term is absent. The magnetic dipole term is different from zero. For large r

$$\hat{A}_i^{(2)}(\vec{x}) = \varepsilon_{iks} \frac{\hat{m}_k x^s}{r^3}, \tag{56}$$

where the magnetic dipole moment is

$$(\hat{m}_1, \, \hat{m}_2, \, \hat{m}_3) = -\frac{\pi}{12} \, \frac{d^2}{u^3} (\sigma^1, \, \sigma^2, \frac{35}{8} \, \sigma^3). \tag{57}$$

From (57) it follows that the vector potential (56) contains mixing between color and space, and that is not spherically symmetrical.

The spatial current $\hat{j}_i^{(2)}$ vanishes. Nonvanishing current can appear in the order q^4 or higher. In order to check this it is necessary to check whether $[\hat{A}_0^{(3)}, \hat{A}_0^{(1)}] = 0$. This is a very tedious calculation. It requires first to calculate $\hat{A}_0^{(3)}$ from (29). We have not done it because in any case the nonvanishing current is at least of order q^4 , and therefore can create magnetic field of order at least q^4 , as it follows from Eqs. (31) and (32). Thus, our perturbative solution is a new example of the known phenomenon, [3], of creating magnetic fields by static color charge densities. Because the magnetic field is here of order q^2 , it can not be attributed to possible nonvanishing $\hat{j}_i^{(4)}$.

The obtained perturbative solution is of the NC type. As it is seen from (44), the external color charge with Hopf index H can be gauge rotated to the Abelian gauge frame by the gauge transformation $\omega_0^{-1}(\vec{x})$, where $\omega_0(\vec{x})$ is given by Eq. (42). In the Abelian gauge frame we obtain

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 0} \hat{A}_i'(\vec{x}) = -i\omega_0^{-1} \hat{\sigma}_i \omega_0. \tag{58}$$

This pure gauge potential can be regarded as belonging to the sector of the θ -vacuum with the winding number $\mp H$.

Let us now compare our solution with the AC solution for the color charge distribution (45), (50) and (52). This exact solution is obtained by gauge rotating $\hat{\varrho}(\vec{x})$ to the Abelian gauge frame, and next substituting into Yang-Mills equations the Ansatz

$$\hat{A}'_0 = A_0 \frac{\sigma^3}{2}, \quad \hat{A}'_i = 0. \tag{59}$$

The resulting linear Poisson equation for A_0 ,

$$\Delta A_0 = -q\varrho(r)$$

yields

$$A_0(r) = \frac{3.5}{3} q d(1 + \mu^2 r^2)^{-1/2}.$$
 (60)

Next we gauge rotate the color charge back to the initial form (45) using $\omega_0(\vec{x})$. The corresponding gauge transformation of the gauge potentials gives

$$\hat{A}_0^{C}(\vec{x}) = A_0(r)\omega_0(\vec{x})\frac{\sigma^3}{2}\omega_0^{-1}(\vec{x}),\tag{61}$$

$$\hat{A}_i^{\text{C}}(\vec{x}) = i\partial_i \omega_0(\vec{x})\omega_0^{-1}(\vec{x}), \tag{62}$$

where $\omega_0 \frac{\sigma^3}{2} \omega_0^{-1}$ can be read off from Eqs. (44) and (45).

This AC solution is exact. It has zero color magnetic field and the potentials vanish when $q \to 0$ in the Abelian gauge frame. On the other hand, the vector potential (56) of the NC solution does not have the Abelian form in the Abelian gauge frame,

 $\hat{A}_i^{'NC} \neq A_i \frac{\sigma^3}{2}$. The AC solution differs from the NC one also by magnitude of \hat{A}_0 ,

$$\hat{A}_0^{\rm C}(\vec{x}) = \frac{3.5}{3} \, \hat{A}_0^{\rm NC}. \tag{63}$$

From (63) it follows that the energy of the AC solution is $(\frac{3.5}{3})^2$ times greater than the energy of the NC solution. This relation is true only for small q, because we have neglected all contributions to the energy of the NC solution of order higher than q^2 . The observed fact that the NC solution has lower energy than the AC solution is in full accordance with the general argument given in [7] for all NC type solutions. However, the big magnitude of difference is somewhat surprising.

We have used the perturbative approach to solve the classical Yang-Mills equations with the external charge with nonzero Hopf index. This method allowed us to perform some calculations. The more ambitious task to find the NC solution exactly seems to be very difficult, because one should not expect that the gauge potentials will possess more than merely cylindrical symmetry, if any. This leads to untractable set of nonlinear equations. The problem is even more difficult because of the possibility that $\hat{j}_i^{(4)} \neq 0$. Therefore, the solution with $\hat{j}_i = 0$ need not exist — if it exists, then it has to be singular in the limit $q \to 0$, or it has to cease to exist for small q (such solutions were found in Yang-Mills theory, [7]).

II.3. Fields generated by gauge invariant external sources

In this Chapter we would like to describe the anounced in Section II.1.1 modification of the coupling of an external source to the Nonabelian gauge field, [65]. The motivation is twofold. The first one is based on the difficulties with gauge invariance of energy for the standard coupling $A^a_{\mu}j^a_{\mu}$. The other one is the following.

In spite of numerous efforts it has not been possible to obtain confinement of quarks within classical chromodynamics. On the other hand, it is commonly believed that quantum chromodynamics does confine quarks. Therefore, CCD can not be regarded as a long distance limit of QCD. One is tempted to guess the form of a classical theory describing the effective long-distance structure of QCD (up to small quantum fluctuations). Below we present an effort in this direction. Namely, we assume that a physical source of Nonabelian gauge field has to be described by a gauge invariant mathematical object. This would correspond to the expectation that only color singlets are the physical states in QCD. Therefore, we shall consider the gauge invariant external sources. Such sources can not be coupled directly to A^a_μ because the total action would not be gauge invariant. We assume that they are coupled to gauge invariant, nonlocal objects (NGIO). We shall consider the following examples of NGIO:

$$W(y, x|C) = \bar{\chi}(y) \operatorname{P} \exp \left[ig \oint_{C,x}^{y} \hat{A}_{\mu} dz^{\mu} \right] \psi(x), \tag{1}$$

where x, y are points in Minkowski space-time, C is a path connecting y and x, P denotes path ordering of exponentials along C, χ , ψ are fermion fields, and $\hat{A}_{\mu} = A_{\mu}^{a} T^{a}$, where T^{a} are generators of SU(2) (or its representation). As the fermionless NGIO we take

$$W^{0}(x, x|C) = \operatorname{Tr} \operatorname{P} \exp \left[ig \oint_{C} \hat{A}_{\mu} dz^{\mu} \right], \tag{2}$$

where the trace is with respect to colour indices and C is a closed contour which starts and terminates at the same point x.

The nonlocal, gauge invariant objects, constructed from Nonabelian gauge potentials, were considered in a number of papers, e.g. [66]. Presently, there exists a hope that such objects provide a string picture of hadrons within the framework of Nonabelian gauge theories. They are expected to be directly related to the long distance structure of the Nonabelian gauge theory. The elementary fermion and Nonabelian gauge fields are not expected to reflect the long distance structure of the theory because of confinement of quarks and gluons.

In order to calculate S-matrix in terms of NGIO it is necessary to consider Green functions for such objects [67]. As an intuitive starting point for this calculation one could take the Feynman path formula for the generating functional for Green functions. Apart from the gauge fixing and F-P ghost terms which are not important on the classical level, the total action in such a formula would be

$$S = S_{YM} + S_F + \int JW, \tag{3}$$

where

$$S_{\rm YM} = -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu}^a F^{a\mu\nu}, \quad a = 1, 2, 3,$$

is the Yang-Mills action, S_F is the Dirac action for fermions, W denotes NGIO and $\int JW$ is specified below. Our considerations can be regarded as an investigation of the static classical approximation to the above sketched problem. Our expectation is that this can be an easy way to get important information about properties of Green functions for

NGIO. We restrict ourselves to the most interesting gluonic sector of the theory by neglecting $S_{\rm F}$.

Here we shall investigate the question what are the classical stationary points of the action $S_{YM} + \int JW$. As W we take the NGIO (1) and (2). The fermion fields present in (1) are regarded as a priori fixed external fields. In other words, we try to find classical gauge potentials generated by the external source J. This external source is, of course, gauge invariant, as it is coupled to the gauge invariant NGIO.

We observe that such sources imply classical Yang-Mills equations with an external current of color along the path C. In the case of NGIO given by (1) we show that the Yang-Mills equations are inconsistent, unless the fermion fields satisfy certain condition. When fermions do satisfy the condition, the external current in Yang-Mills equations vanishes and the external source decouples from Yang-Mills equations. This gives zero gauge field for such a source.

The fermionless case (2) is more complicated. The gauge potentials generated by the current of color flowing along the path C can be easily found. Because the line C has zero thickness, the potentials are singular on C. This is an unpleasant difficulty for the classical approach, because the external current of color contains explicitly $\hat{A}_{\mu}(z)$ taken for $z \in C$ and this is infinite. Of course, this difficulty could be resolved by a quantum smearing of the curve C. One should use some smooth J(x, y|C) and to average (2) with it. We say "quantum smearing" because results of papers [66b] strongly suggest that J(x, y|C) can be interpreted as a wave functional for a string.

However, there still exists a possibility of a classical description. Namely, one could think of such a wave functional J(x, y|C) that it can be described classically by some very complicated curve C, so complex that \hat{A}_{μ} will be finite on C. In fact, in the quantum theory the curve C (being the shape of the string) strongly fluctuates, and therefore there is no reason why the best classical description should be given by geometrically simplest lines. We consider a curve C that fills in a torus, the two dimensional manifold. Such a curve could be considered intuitively as a limiting case of a curve winding around some given circle, when the number of windings increases to infinity. Continuous curves filling more than one dimensional manifolds are known in mathematics, e.g., Sierpiński curve [68]. The corresponding solution of Yang-Mills equations is given by some color magnetic field restricted to the inside of the torus and zero electric field. The classical selfenergy of the source is, unexpectedly, quantized through a selfconsistency condition. For a thin torus the energy spectrum is linear. Such a toroidal magnetic flux tube we would like to interpret as a classical picture of a glueball.

Two remarks are in order:

- 1. We consider the simplest, so called Abelian, solutions of Yang-Mills equations. It is already known that for a given external source Yang-Mills equations admit also other types of solutions. A similar phenomenon should be expected also in the case of the gauge invariant external sources.
- 2. Note that the action S is not in general real because of the term $S_{\rm ext} = \int JW$. It is interesting that in spite of this, one could choose an overall constant in $S_{\rm ext}$ in such a way that the stationary points are given by real gauge potentials A^a_{μ} .

A. Yang-Mills equations with the gauge invariant sources involving fermions

We search for a stationary point of the action

$$S = -\frac{1}{4} \int d^4x F^a_{\mu\nu} F^{a\mu\nu} + S_{\text{ext}}, \tag{4}$$

where

$$S_{\text{ext}} = \int d^4x d^4y \int [dc_{\mu}] J(y, x|C) W(y, x|C), \tag{5}$$

W(y, x|C) being given by (1). Here $[dc_{\mu}]$ denotes a functional measure in a space of paths C, connecting the points x, y in Minkowski space-time. Observe that the terms $\overline{\psi}\gamma A\psi$, present in the neglected S_F , would act as an additional gauge noninvariant external source for A_{μ} . Such sources were already investigated. In this Chapter we are not concerned with them.

In the following we assume that the external source J is strictly localized in three-space and that it is static, i.e.,

$$J(y, x|C) = q\delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_a)\delta(\vec{y} - \vec{x}_b)\delta(x_0 - y_0) \left[\delta(C_0 - x_0)\right] \left[\delta(\vec{C} - \vec{C}^{(0)})\right], \tag{6}$$

where $[\delta(\vec{C} - \vec{C}^{(0)})]$, $[\delta(C_0 - x_0)]$ are the functional delta functions, \vec{x}_a , \vec{x}_b are fixed points in three-space and $C^{(0)}$ is a curve connecting x_a , x_b . The two deltas, $\delta(x_0 - y_0)$ and $[\delta(C_0 - x_0)]$ make the configuration to be equal time configuration. The fact that x_0 is unspecified implies that the configuration is the static one. We assume that $\bar{\chi}$, ψ are constant in time. q is a constant characterizing the strength of the external source.

The action (4) implies the usual equations for the gauge potentials

$$D_{\mu}\hat{F}^{\mu\nu} = \hat{j}^{\nu}_{\text{ext}},\tag{7}$$

where

$$j_{\rm ext}^{av}(x) = -\frac{\delta S_{\rm ext}}{\delta A_{\nu}^{a}} \tag{8}$$

and $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + ig[\hat{A}_{\mu}, \cdot].$

In order to calculate explicitly j_{ext}^{av} we parametrize the line $C^{(0)}$: $\lambda \in [0, 1]$, $C_{\mu}^{(0)} = C_{\mu}^{(0)}(\lambda) \equiv z_{\mu}(\lambda)$, $C_{\mu}^{(0)}(0) = x_{a\mu}$, $C_{\mu}^{(0)}(1) = x_{b\mu}$. Of course, $x_{a0} = x_{b0} = z_{0}(\lambda)$. Then

$$P \exp \left[ig \int_{x_a}^{x_b} A_{\mu} dz^{\mu}\right] = P \exp \left[ig \int_{0}^{1} d\lambda v^{\mu} A_{\mu}\right],$$

where $v^{\mu} = \frac{dz^{\mu}}{d\lambda}$, and the variational derivative in (8) yields after a straightforward calculation

$$j_{\rm ext}^{a0}=0,$$

$$j_{\rm ext}^{ai} = gq \int_{0}^{1} d\lambda v^{i}(\lambda) I^{a}(\vec{z}(\lambda)) \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{z}(\lambda)), \qquad (9)$$

where

$$I^{a}(\vec{z}(\lambda)) = i\bar{\chi}(\vec{x}_{b})V_{C}(\vec{x}_{b}, \vec{z}(\lambda))T^{a}V_{C}(\vec{z}(\lambda), \vec{x}_{a})\psi(\vec{x}_{a}), \tag{10}$$

and

$$V_C(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = P \exp \left[ig \int_{c_i \vec{y}}^{\vec{x}} \hat{A}_i dz^i\right].$$

Thus, $j_{\text{ext}}^{ai} = 0$, except for the line $\vec{C}^{(0)}$, along which there is a flow of color charge. Yang-Mills equations (7) imply the constraint (6) of the Chapter II.1, i.e.,

$$\partial_{\mu}j_{\rm ext}^{a\mu} - g\varepsilon_{abc}A_{\mu}^{b}j_{\rm ext}^{c\mu} = 0 \tag{11}$$

for any current on the r.h.s. of them. For gauge noninvariant external sources this constraint is a nontrivial condition to be satisfied. For the gauge invariant sources, the current (9) satisfies the constraint identically on the whole $\vec{C}^{(0)}$, excluding the end points \vec{x}_a , \vec{x}_b . At these points the constraint is not satisfied unless the fermion wave functions $\bar{\chi}$, ψ obey certain condition. Namely, from (9) we get

$$\partial_{\mu}j_{\text{evt}}^{a\mu} = (\partial_{i}I^{a})j^{i} + I^{a}\partial_{i}j^{i}, \tag{12}$$

where $j^i(\vec{x}) = gq \int_0^1 d\lambda v^i(\lambda) \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{z}(\lambda))$ is the usual current obeying the static continuity equation $\partial_i j^i = 0$ for $\vec{x} \neq \vec{x}_a$, \vec{x}_b . Thus, the last term on the r.h.s. of (12) vanishes for $\vec{x} \neq \vec{x}_a$, \vec{x}_b . It is easy to verify that the first term on the r.h.s. of (12) cancels with the term $\varepsilon_{abc} A^b_{\mu} j^{\mu c}_{ext}$ present on the l.h.s. of the constraint (11). For $\vec{x} = \vec{x}_a$, $\vec{x} = \vec{x}_b$ we have $\partial_i j^i \sim \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_{a,b})$ and therefore the constraint (11) implies

$$I^{a}(\vec{x}_{a}) = I^{a}(\vec{x}_{b}) = 0. {13}$$

However, from (10) it follows that

$$I^a(\vec{z}) = D^{ab}(V_c)I^b(\vec{x}_b),$$

where $D^{ab}(V_c)$ is the matrix of the adjoint representation of SU(2), corresponding to the group element $V_c(\vec{z}(\lambda), \vec{x}_b)$. Therefore the condition (13) implies $I^a(\vec{x}) = 0$ for all $\vec{x} \in \vec{C}^{(0)}$, i.e. the external source decouples from Yang-Mills equations. This means that the external source does not generate any gauge field.

To summarize, either the external source decouples from classical Yang-Mills equations or it is not consistent with them. We would like to interpret this result as an indication that NGIO for which $I^a(\vec{x}) = 0$ are, in some sense, favored by the Nonabelian gauge theory.

B. The gauge invariant sources without fermions

Now we shall consider the action (4), (5) with W replaced by $W^0(x, x|C)$ given by (2) and $J = J(x|C) = q\delta(\vec{x} - \vec{x}_a) \left[\delta(\vec{C} - \vec{C}^{(0)})\right] \left[\delta(C_0 - x_0)\right]$. In the corresponding Yang-Mills equations (7) the external courrent j_{ext}^{av} has the form (9), where now

$$I^{a}(\vec{z}) = i \operatorname{Tr} \left[\tilde{V}_{C}(\vec{x}_{a}, \vec{x}) T^{a} V_{C}(\vec{x}, \vec{x}_{a}) \right]. \tag{14}$$

 \tilde{V}_C is calculated along the other arc of $\vec{C}^{(0)}$ than that used in V_C . One can verify that the external current satisfies the constraint (11) on the whole $\vec{C}^{(0)}$.

At first sight Yang-Mills equations look as very complicated integro-differential nonlinear equations. Still one could find a solution for them. Namely, we observe that because gauge transformations just rotate the color spin vector (I^a), one can perform such a gauge transformation that the resulting (I^a) will point in the 3-rd direction for all $\vec{z} \in \vec{C}^{(0)}$, i.e. $I^a = Ie_z^a$, where $e_z^a = \delta^{a3}$, [6]. Then, the Ansatz $A_\mu^a(x) = \delta^{a3} A_\mu(x)$ reduces Yang-Mills equations to ordinary Maxwell equations for $A_\mu(x)$ with the external static current

$$j_{\rm ext}^{i}(\vec{x}) = Igq \int_{0}^{1} d\lambda v^{i} \delta(\vec{x} - \vec{C}^{(0)}(\lambda))$$

along the line $\vec{C}^{(0)}$. The corresponding solutions are known from a text-book electrodynamics. As the next step, we insert the solutions for A_{μ} on the r.h.s. of (14). Because the l.h.s. is given $(I^a = \delta^{a3}I)$, this yields a consistency condition from which one could try to determine some constants present in A_{μ} .

Unfortunately, because of zero thickness of the line $\vec{C}^{(0)}$, \hat{A}_{μ} has a logarithmic singularity on $\vec{C}^{(0)}$ and we meet the difficulty mentioned earlier. As it was explained, we assume that $\vec{C}^{(0)}$ is at least a twodimensional structure. The simplest possibility is to assume that $\vec{C}^{(0)}$ is a torus, i.e. the current $j_{\rm ext}^{\nu}$ forms a torus-like coil. This assumption is not as peculiar as it may look at first sight. Firstly, we recall that in Yang's formulation of Nonabelian gauge theories [66a], one uses the exponentials $\exp[ig\hat{A}_{\mu}dx^{\mu}]$ independently at each space-time point x. There is no reason why one should arrange these infinitesimal exponentials just along the simplest lines and to neglect more refined possibilities. Secondly, some support comes also from energy considerations. Namely, the classical selfenergy of an infinitely thin, static, linear current diverges logarithmically. On the other hand, classical selfenergy of the current forming the torus is finite, equal to the energy of magnetic field inside the torus.

Thus, we assume that $\vec{C}^{(0)}$ forms a torus-like coil. The solution of the Maxwell equations is given by some magnetic field inside the coil. It remains to check the consistency condition. Because we have $A^{ai} = \delta^{a3}A^i$, $T^a = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^a$, σ^a — Pauli matrices, then

$$V_C(\vec{x}, \vec{x}_a) = \operatorname{Tr} \exp \left[-ig \int_{C^{(0)}, \vec{x}_a}^{\vec{x}} A^i dx^i T^3\right] = \exp \left[-ig T^3 \Phi d(\vec{x}, \vec{x}_a) \kappa\right],$$

and

$$\tilde{V}_{C}(\vec{x}_{a}, \vec{x}) = \exp\left[-igT^{3}\Phi\tilde{d}(\vec{x}_{a}, \vec{x})\kappa\right].$$

Here Φ is the flux of the magnetic field through the torus, $d(\vec{x}, \vec{x}_a)$ is the length of the torus between the points \vec{x}_a , \vec{x} (that is the distance along the big circle of the torus between the points obtained by perpendicular projections of the points \vec{x}_a , \vec{x} on the big circle), $\tilde{d}(\vec{x}_a, \vec{x})$ also is the distance between the projections of \vec{x}_a and \vec{x} but taken along the other arc of the big circle of the torus, κ is an unknown coefficient describing the density of windings of the current around the torus. The path ordering was dropped out because now the exponentials commute. From (14) we obtain that

$$I^{1} = I^{2} = 0$$
, $I^{3} = I = \sin \frac{1}{2} g \Phi l \kappa$,

where $l = d(\vec{x}, \vec{x}_a) + \tilde{d}(\vec{x}_a, \vec{x})$ is the perimeter of the torus along its big circle. Because for the thin, toroidal coil $\Phi \cong qIg\kappa S_{\perp}$, where S_{\perp} is the area of the perpendicular cross-section of the torus, we get the consistency condition

$$I = \sin\left[\frac{1}{2}(g\kappa)^2 I_q V\right],\tag{15}$$

where V is the volume of the torus. Of course, our considerations require $\kappa \to \infty$. In order to obtain finite results we parallelly take $g \to 0$, in such a way that $g\kappa \equiv \lambda = \text{const.}$

The condition (15) can be read over in at least two ways. Straightforwardly, it can be regarded as an equation for I, in which V, λ , q are fixed parameters describing the given torus. The energy of the torus is $E = \frac{1}{4} H^2 V = \frac{1}{4} q^2 \lambda^2 I^2 V$. For sufficiently large $\lambda^2 q V$ there are many values of I obeying (15).

However, the condition (15) can be interpreted also as a quantization condition for $\lambda^2 V$. Namely, when I is a priori fixed, (15) implies

$$\lambda^2 V = \frac{2}{Iq} (\pm \arcsin I + 2k_{\pm}\pi), \quad k_{+} = \text{integer}, \ k_{-} = \text{integer} + \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (16)

Observe that (15) implies also that q is a positive number, q > 0. Thus we have to assume $k_+ \ge 0, k_- \ge \frac{1}{2}$ in order to ensure $\lambda^2 V > 0$. Then, the energy is

$$E_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} q I(\pm \arcsin I + 2k_{\pm}\pi),$$
 (17)

where $\arcsin I < \frac{\pi}{2}$. Observe that the spectrum of energy is linear and that it depends only on the strength of the external source q and on the constant I. The constant I in this case is not determined, except for the condition |I| < 1. The cases I = 0, 1 we exclude as the trivial ones. It is natural to take $I = \frac{1}{2}$ because we have used the fundamental representation for T^a .

Our results indicate that classical gauge fields can be created in a gauge invariant manner on the classical level only if the accompanying fermions satisfy the condition (13). Then, the external current vanishes and the external source decouples from Yang-Mills equations. In particular, this means that the classical selfenergy of such a source is given entirely by the classical selfenergy of the set of accompanying fermions. This selfenergy can be calculated from Yang-Mills equations with the external current $\overline{\psi}T^a\psi$ (this current, coupled directly to \hat{A}_{μ} , is a gauge noninvariant external source of gauge fields and therefore it was neglected in our considerations). Unfortunately, we cannot relate the condition (13) to the common requirement that the fermions should form a color singlet state.

In the case without fermions, the classical approach seems to require rather complicated objects instead of a simple, closed contour C. We have considered C to be a torus. The question arises whether the resulting magnetic flux tube is stable. Presently we have no answer to this question. It seems that there is no reason for a topological stability. On the other hand, the spectrum (17) is bounded from below and, intriguingly, does not depend on the size of the torus — this suggests an energetistic stability.

The above results can be easily extended to SU(n) groups. Of course, the number of types of NGIO then increases.

This description of the gauge invariant external sources ends our investigations of classical chromodynamics of external charges.

II.4. Final remarks

The question what is the classical Yang-Mills field generated by a given distribution of color charges is far from being satisfactorily answered. Just the opposite, numerous investigations [2–28] reveal unexpectedly complex situation. It was discovered that a fixed color charge distribution allows for infinitely many fields obeying Yang-Mills equations (4) of the Chapter II.1, all these solutions having finite energy and vanishing at infinity. There is no clear cut principle which could tell us which of the solutions is to be adopted as "the physical one". Much more work is required in order to reach a satisfactory understanding of this situation.

We are convinced that further efforts in this direction will lead to important insights into Yang-Mills dynamics on classical as well as quantum levels. Already at the moment one can make interesting observations. For example, solutions with lowest energy as a rule contain nonzero color magnetic fields. Thus, the presence of color magnetic fields results in lowering the energy of Yang-Mills system. This remarkably well corresponds with the belief that the vacuum state in confining QCD is filled in with magnetic fields [50], although the precise relation of the two things is not known at the moment.

A possible way of incorporating into quantized Yang-Mills theory the knowledge gained from classical Yang-Mills equations with external sources is through a modification of gluon propagator. An effort in this direction is presented in [69] — unfortunately, it requires to invent a way of dealing with infrared divergences.

The author would like to thank Professor J. Rayski for encouragement and support. Helpful discussions with Professors K. Zalewski, A. Staruszkiewicz and H. B. Nielsen are also acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- [1] A. Actor, Rev. Mod. Phys. 51, 460 (1979).
- [2] J. E. Mandula, Phys. Lett. 67B, 175 (1977); Phys. Rev. D14, 3497 (1976).
- [3] P. Sikivie, N. Weiss, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40, 1411 (1978); Phys. Rev. D18, 3809 (1978).
- [4] M. Magg, Phys. Lett. 77B, 199 (1978); Phys. Lett. 78B, 484 (1978).
- [5] I. B. Chriplovich, Sov. Phys.-JETP 74, 37 (1978).
- [6] H. Arodź, Phys. Lett. 78B, 129 (1978).
- [7] R. Jackiw, L. Jacobs, C. Rebbi, Phys. Rev. D20, 474 (1979).
- [8] R. Jackiw, P. Rossi, Phys. Rev. D21, 426 (1980).
- [9] N. Weiss, Phys. Rev. D21, 1603 (1980).
- [10] P. Pirilä, P. Prešnajder, Nucl. Phys. B142, 229 (1978).
- [11] Y. Leroyer, A. Raychaudhuri, Phys. Rev. D20, 2086 (1979).
- [12] M. Kalb, Phys. Rev. D18, 2909 (1978).
- [13] K. Cahill, Phys. Rev. Lett. 41, 599 (1978).

- [14] R. Hughes, Nucl. Phys. B159, 57 (1979).
- [15] R. Teh, W. K. Koo, C. H. Oh, Phys. Rev. D23, 3046 (1981); C. H. Oh, R. Teh, W. K. Koo, Phys. Lett. 101B, 337 (1981); R. Teh, W. K. Koo, C. H. Oh, Phys. Rev. D24, 2305 (1981); C. H. Oh, Phys. Rev. D25, 2194 (1982).
- [16] E. Corrigan, Phys. Lett. 82B, 407 (1979).
- [17] J. Kiskis, Phys. Rev. D21, 421 (1980).
- [18] D. Horvat, K. S. Viswanathan, Phys. Rev. D23, 937 (1981).
- [19] R. A. Freedman, L. Wilets, S. D. Ellis, E. M. Henley, Phys. Rev. D22, 3128 (1980).
- [20] A. Gillespie, University of Durham report, 1978.
- [21] L. Jacobs, J. Wudka, Phys. Rev. D25, 1114 (1982).
- [22] L. Mathelisch, H. Mitter, F. Widder, Phys. Rev. D25, 1123 (1982).
- [23] R. Hong Tuan, Phys. Rev. Lett. 44, 848 (1980); Phys. Lett. 99B, 349 (1981).
- [24] D. E. Burlankov, V. V. Vas'kin, V. N. Dutyshev, Sov. Phys.-JETP 48, 606 (1978).
- [25] J. S. Ball, Nucl. Phys. B201, 352 (1982).
- [26] A. Trautman, Phys. Rev. Lett. 46, 875 (1981).
- [27] H. Arodź, Nucl. Phys. B207, 288 (1982).
- [28] H. Arodź, Acta Phys. Pol. B11, 559 (1980); Proceedings of the XVIII Winter School of Theoretical Physics, Karpacz 1981, in press (TPJU preprint 4/1981).
- [29] S. K. Wong, Nuovo Cimento LXVA, 689 (1970).
- [30] A. P. Balachandran, P. Salomonson, B. S. Skagerstam, J. D. Winnberg, Phys. Rev. D17, 3247 (1978).
- [31] W. Czyż, P. K. Kabir, Phys. Rev. D11, 2219 (1975).
- [32] A. P. Balachandran, S. Borchardt, A. Stern, Phys. Rev. D17, 3247 (1978).
- [33] A. Barducci, R. Casalbuoni, L. Lusanna, Nucl. Phys. B124, 521 (1977); L. Brink, P. di Vecchia, P. Hove, Nucl. Phys. B118, 76 (1977).
- [34] J. Schechter, Phys. Rev. D14, 524 (1976).
- [35] A. Stern, Phys. Rev. D15, 3672 (1977).
- [36] H. Arodź, A. Górski, Phys. Rev. D20, 1022 (1979).
- [37] H. Arodź, Acta Phys. Pol. B13, 519 (1982); Phys. Lett. 116B, 255 (1982).
- [38] H. Arodź, Acta Phys. Pol. B14, 13 (1983); Phys. Lett. 116B, 255 (1982).
- [39] H. Arodź, Phys. Lett. 77B, 69 (1978).
- [40] C. Duval, P. A. Horvathy, Ann. Phys. (New York) 142, 10 (1982); P. A. Horvathy, Universität Bielefeld preprint, July 1982.
- [41] W. Drechsler, Fortschr. Phys. 27, 489 (1979).
- [42] W. Drechsler, Nuovo Cimento 50A, 405 (1979).
- [43] M. Dresden, S. F. Chen, Physica 83A, 1 (1976).
- [44] P. Salomonson, B. Skagerstam, J. Winnberg, Phys. Rev. D16, 2581 (1977); S. Ragusa, Phys. Rev. D26, 1979 (1982).
- [45] W. Drechsler, A. Rosenblum, Phys. Lett. 106B, 81 (1981).
- [46] Th. W. Ruijgrok, H.v.d. Vlist, Physica 101A, 571 (1980).
- [47] L. L. Foldy, S. A. Wouthuysen, Phys. Rev. 78, 29 (1950).
- [48] N. N. Bogoljubov, A. A. Logunov, I. T. Todorov, Introduction to Axiomatic QFT, Ch. 5, W. A. Benjamin Inc., 1975.
- [49] R. P. Feynman, A. R. Hibbs, Quantum Mechanics and Path Integrals, McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York 1965.
- [50] J. Ambjørn, P. Olesen, Nucl. Phys. B170 [FS], 60 (1980).
- [51] G. Cognola, L. Vanzo, S. Zerbini, R. Soldati, Phys. Lett. 104B, 67 (1981).
- [52] H. van Dam, Th. W. Ruijgrok, Physica 104A, 281 (1980).
- [53] J. Schwinger, Phys. Rev. D82, 664 (1951).
- [54] H. Arodź, Phys. Lett. 84B, 211 (1979).
- [55] E. W. Prohvatilov, Vestnik Leningr. Fiz. Khim. 16, 12 (1979).

- [56] J. Ishida, A. Hosoya, Prog. Theor. Phys. (Japan) 62, 544 (1979).
- [57] H. Arodź, Classical Nonabelian Gauge Fields, Zeszyty Naukowe UJ, 1983, in press.
- [58] Y. Nambu, in Jerusalem Einstein Centennial Symposium 1979, p. 118, Ed. Y. Ne'eman, Addison-Wesley, London 1981; G. Venturi, University of Bologna report, 1982.
- [59] H. Flanders, Differential Forms with Application to the Physical Sciences, Academic Press, New York 1963.
- [60] L. J. Boya, J. F. Carrinena, J. Mateos, Fortschr. Phys. 26, 175 (1978).
- [61] R. Jackiw, C. Rebbi, Phys. Rev. Lett. 37, 172 (1976).
- [62] J. Hertel, DESY preprint 76/59 (1976).
- [63] S. Schweber, An Introduction to Relativistic QFT, Harper, New York 1964.
- [64] D. J. Jackson, Classical Electrodynamics, J. Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York 1962.
- [65] H. Arodź, Acta Phys. Pol. B12, 429 (1981).
- [66] a) T. T. Wu, C. N. Yang, Phys. Rev. D12, 3845 (1975); I. Białynicki-Birula, Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci. Ser. Sci. Math. Astron. Phys. 10, 135 (1963). b) J. L. Gervais, A. Neveu, String States in QCD, Cargese Lectures 1979; Y. Nambu, Phys. Lett. 80B, 372 (1979); A. M. Polyakov, Phys. Lett. 82B, 247 (1979).
- [67] T. Matsumoto, Prog. Theor. Phys. (Japan) 61, 1481 (1979); W. Kummer, Acta Phys. Austriaca 52, 141 (1980).
- [68] K. Kuratowski, Introduction to the Set Theory and Topology, Ch. 18, Sect. 5, Polish Scientific Publishers, Warsaw 1972.
- [69] H. Arodź, Acta Phys. Pol. B12, 1047 (1981).